UNIFORM UNIFORM EXPONENTIAL GROWTH IN SMALL CANCELLATION QUOTIENTS

by Xabier LEGASPI & Markus STEENBOCK

 $23 \mathrm{rd}$ June2023

ABSTRACT. — A major open question asks whether every group acting acylindrically on a hyperbolic space has uniform exponential growth. We prove that the class of groups of uniform uniform exponential growth acting acylindrically on a hyperbolic space is stable under taking geometric small cancellation quotients.

 ${\bf Keywords.}\ {\bf Exponential\ growth,\ hyperbolic\ groups,\ acylindrical\ actions,\ small\ cancellation.}$

MSC. 20F06, 20F65, 20F67, 20F69

Contents

1	Intr	Introduction				
	1.1	Geometric small cancellation quotients	2			
	1.2	Beyond short loxodromics	4			
	1.3	Classical small cancellation groups	5			
	1.4	Strategy of proof	5			
	1.5	Outline of the article	7			
	1.6	Acknowledgements	8			
2	Hy	Hyperbolic geometry				
	2.1	Hyperbolicity	8			
	2.2	Quasi-convexity	9			
	2.3	Isometries	10			
	2.4	Group action on a δ -hyperbolic space	11			
	2.5	Small cancellation theory	14			
3	Reduced subsets					
	3.1	Broken geodesics	17			
	3.2	Quasi-isometric embedding of a free group	19			
	3.3	Geodesic extension property	20			



4	Growth in groups acting on a δ -hyperbolic space			
	4.1	Growth of maximal loxodromic subgroups	23	
	4.2	Producing reduced subsets	26	
	4.3	Growth trichotomy	29	
5	Shortening and shortening-free words			
	5.1	Shortening words	31	
	5.2	The growth of shortening-free words	37	
	5.3	The injection of shortening-free words $\hfill \ldots \hfill $	42	
6	6 Growth in small cancellation groups		44	
7	7 References		50	

1. Introduction

Let G be a group with finite symmetric generating set U. Denote by X_U the corresponding Cayley graph. The *n*-th product set U^n is the collection of elements $u_1 \cdot \ldots \cdot u_n \in G$ such that $u_1, \cdots, u_n \in U$. In this article we study the number

$$\omega(U) := \limsup_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log |U^n|.$$

The role of $\omega(U)$ is to give us information about the exponential behaviour of $|U^n|$ as n increases. The generating sets of virtually nilpotent groups have vanishing exponential growth rate, since a celebrated theorem of M. Gromov shows that those are exactly the groups of polynomial growth, [27]. Let $\xi > 0$. The group G has ξ -uniform exponential growth if for every finite symmetric generating set U of G, we have $\omega(U) > \xi$. A group has ξ -uniform uniform exponential growth if every finitely generated subgroup is either virtually nilpotent or has ξ -uniform exponential growth.

Uniform uniform exponential growth is particularly well-studied in groups of nonpositive curvature. Indeed, groups of uniform uniform exponential growth include hyperbolic groups, [4,9,31], free products of countable families of groups with ξ -uniform uniform exponential growth (folklore), mapping class groups, [1,2,32], or cocompactly special cubulated CAT(0) groups, [1,24]. It is unknown whether the outer automorphism group of the free group of rank ≥ 2 has uniform uniform exponential growth, [6]. All of the groups in this list admit non-elementary acylindrical actions on Gromov hyperbolic spaces, [7,20,35].

1.1. Geometric small cancellation quotients

The main goal of this article is to prove that the class of groups of uniform uniform exponential growth acting acylindrically on a hyperbolic space is closed under taking geometric $C''(\lambda, \varepsilon)$ -small cancellation quotients in the sense of [20, Definition 6.22]. This result is Theorem 1.2 below. Before stating the theorem, we are going to give some definitions. Let $\delta > 0$. Let G be a group acting by isometries on a δ -hyperbolic space X.

Acylindricity. Let κ , N > 0. The action of G on X is (κ, N) -acylindrical if for every pair of points $x, y \in X$ at distance at least κ , the number of elements $u \in G$ moving each of the points x, y at distance at most 100δ is bounded above by N. In practice, the number N has two meanings for us:

- (1) The largest size of the finite subgroups of virtually cyclic subgroups in G containing a loxodromic isometry.
- (2) The fraction Δ(g)/||g|| of the longest intersection Δ(g) between the axis of any pair of conjugates of an arbitrary loxodromic isometry g of G, with the translation length ||g|| of g, whenever this translation is larger than 100δ.

Geometric small cancellation theory. A loxodromic moving family – or set of relations – is a set of the form

$$\mathscr{Q} = \{ \left(\left\langle grg^{-1} \right\rangle, gY_r \right) \mid r \in \mathscr{R}, g \in G \},$$

where $\mathscr{R} \subset G$ is a set of loxodromic isometries r – the *relators* – stabilizing their quasiconvex axis $Y_r \subset X$. A *piece* is an intersection of any pair of such axis. The role of the parameters $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ in the geometric $C''(\lambda, \varepsilon)$ -small cancellation condition on \mathscr{Q} is the following:

- ► The fraction of the length of the longest piece with the shortest translation length of the relators $r \in \mathscr{R}$ is at most λ .
- ▶ The shortest translation length of the relators $r \in \mathscr{R}$ is at least $\varepsilon \delta$.

Let K be the normal closure in G of the relator subgroups H in \mathscr{Q} . The geometric $C''(\lambda, \varepsilon)$ -small cancellation condition permits to obtain substantial information of the geometric $C''(\lambda, \varepsilon)$ -small cancellation quotient $\bar{G} = G/K$: for instance K is a free product of relator subgroups, \bar{G} locally looks like G and any acylindrical action of G on X induces another acylindrical action of \bar{G} on a quotient $\bar{\delta}$ -hyperbolic space \bar{X} whose hyperbolicity constant $\bar{\delta}$ is universal.

Main theorem. The following result captures the essence of the main theorem.

THEOREM 1.1. — There exists a universal constant $\lambda > 0$ such that for every group G acting acylindrically on a hyperbolic space X, there exist $\varepsilon > 0$ depending only on the acylindricity and hyperbolicity constants such that the following statements are equivalent.

- (i) G has uniform uniform exponential growth.
- (ii) Every geometric $C''(\lambda, \varepsilon)$ -small cancellation quotient of G has uniform uniform exponential growth.

(iii) There exists a geometric $C''(\lambda, \varepsilon)$ -small cancellation quotient of G that has uniform uniform exponential growth.

The main theorem of this article is more precise:

THEOREM 1.2 (Theorem 6.5 & Theorem 6.6). — There exists $\lambda > 0$ such that for every N > 0 the following holds. Let $\delta > 0$, $\kappa \ge \delta$, and $\varepsilon \ge 10^{10} \max\{N, \kappa/\delta\}$. Let G be a group acting (κ, N) -acylindrically on a δ -hyperbolic space X.

- (i) If G has ξ-uniform uniform exponential growth, then every geometric C''(λ, ε)-small cancellation quotient of G has ξ'-uniform uniform exponential growth. The constant ξ' depends only on ξ and N.
- (ii) If there exist a geometric C''(λ, ε)-small cancellation quotient of G that has ξuniform uniform exponential growth, then G has ξ'-uniform uniform exponential growth. The constant ξ' depends only on ξ.

Remark 1.3. — The dependence of ε on κ , N and δ is not a strong condition. In fact, the intersection of the axis of two loxodromic elements in a group acting acylindrically on a hyperbolic space is controlled in terms of κ , N, δ and the translation length of the loxodromic elements. Thus to prove that a set of relators satisfies the geometric $C''(\lambda, \varepsilon)$ -condition, one usually considers relators of sufficient length compared to κ , Nand δ anyway.

1.2. Beyond short loxodromics

The standard strategy to study uniform exponential growth in hyperbolic groups exploits the fact that their finite symmetric generating sets have the *short loxodromic* property: every n-th power U^n of a finite symmetric generating set contains a loxodromic isometry, for some number n that does not depend on the set U. In general, it is unknown whether every finitely generated group acting acylindrically on a hyperbolic space has uniform exponential growth. The acylindrical action on a hyperbolic space yields uniform exponential growth for finite symmetric generating sets with a long loxodromic isometry. The short loxodromic property permits to take uniform large powers so that we can exploit this other situation. However, there is a finitely generated (*combinatorial/graded*) small cancellation quotient with an acylindrical action on a hyperbolic space but without the short loxodromic property, [33]. Our main result does not make use of the short loxodromic property. The moral of our work is that we can deal with this kind of monster as long as these are small cancellation quotients of groups of uniform uniform exponential growth acting acylindrically on a hyperbolic space. However, the aforementioned monster is a quotient of the free product of all hyperbolic groups. It is unkown whether this free product has uniform uniform exponential growth, owing to it is unknown whether there is a universal lower bound for the uniform growth rate of all hyperbolic groups, independent

of the hyperbolicity constant, [9, Section 14, Question 2]. The following example shows that the short loxodromic property plays no role in the proof of Theorem 1.2.

EXAMPLE 1.4. — There are infinite families of geometric small cancellation quotients that are hyperbolic groups containing arbitrarily large torsion balls. These groups act acylindrically with uniform acylindricity parameters and have ξ -uniform uniform exponential growth, for some uniform growth exponent $\xi > 0$, see [19]. The uniform uniform exponential growth rate of the small cancellation quotient in Theorem 1.2 (i) does not depend on the cardinality of large torsion balls, nor does it depend on the hyperbolicity constant.

1.3. Classical small cancellation groups

We now discuss groups given by a presentation that satisfies the classical $C''(\lambda)$ -small cancellation condition. We refer to a group admiting such a presentation as classical $C''(\lambda)$ -small cancellation group. These are exactly the geometric small cancellation quotients over free groups. In this situation, the geometric small cancellation condition involving the parameter ε becomes trivial. A classical $C''(\lambda)$ -small cancellation group is always finitely presented, hence, hyperbolic. Thus it has uniform uniform exponential growth by [28,31]. However, in that approach the uniform uniform exponential growth rate depends on λ . The following is a consequence of Theorem 1.2 for the free group case.

COROLLARY 1.5. — There exist $\lambda > 0$ and $\xi > 0$ such that every classical $C''(\lambda)$ -small cancellation group has ξ -uniform uniform exponential growth.

Note that there is a generic class of classical C''(1/6)-small cancellation groups such that every 2-generated subgroup is free, [5]. This immediately implies Corollary 1.5 for this generic class of classical C''(1/6)-small cancellation groups, [21].

Remark 1.6. — The classical $C''(\lambda)$ -small cancellation condition in Corollary 1.5 is reminiscent of our proof that uses geometric small cancellation theory. To this date, geometric small cancellation theory has not been developed under a geometric $C'(\lambda, \varepsilon)$ small cancellation condition. We expect, however, that this is possible, and thus that our results hold for classical $C'(\lambda)$ -small cancellation groups - finitely and infinitely presented.

1.4. Strategy of proof

To prove Theorem 1.2 (i), we need to discuss the growth of finite symmetric subsets of sufficiently large energy in groups acting acylindrically on a hyperbolic space X. If G acts by isometries on X, the ℓ^{∞} -energy L(U) of a finite subset $U \subset G$ is defined by

$$\mathcal{L}(U) = \inf_{x \in X} \max_{u \in U} |ux - x|.$$

If $U = \{g\}$, the ℓ^{∞} -energy coincides with the translation length of g. The following example explains why the energy is important in the study of uniform exponential growth.

5

EXAMPLE 1.7. — When G is the fundamental group of a compact hyperbolic manifold, there exists a constant $\mu > 0$ – the *Margulis constant* – such that if $U \subset G$ is a finite set with $L(U) < \mu$, then the subgroup of G generated by U is virtually nilpotent. If T denotes the injectivity radius of the action of G on the universal cover and is smaller than the Margulis constant μ , then the acylindricity constant κ is about 1/T, [23].

DEFINITION 1.8 (Definition 3.1). — Let $\alpha > 0$. We say that a finite subset $U \subset G$ is α -reduced at $p \in X$ if $U \cap U^{-1} = \emptyset$ and for every pair of distinct $u_1, u_2 \in U \sqcup U^{-1}$, the Gromov product satisfies

$$(u_1p, u_2p)_p < \frac{1}{2}\min\{|u_1p - p|, |u_2p - p|\} - \alpha - 2\delta.$$

Remark 1.9. — Roughly speaking, if a set $U \subset G$ is reduced then the orbit map from the free group generated by U to X is a quasi-isometric embedding.

The following is a well-known theorem of [4, 31], see also [25].

THEOREM 1.10 (Theorem 4.8). — For every κ , N > 0, there exist an integer c > 1 with the following property. Let δ , $\alpha > 0$. Let G be a group acting (κ, N) -acylindrically on a δ -hyperbolic space X. Let $U \subset G$ be a finite symmetric subset containing the identity. Then one of the following conditions holds:

- (i) $L(U) \leq 10^4 \max{\{\kappa, \delta, \alpha\}}$.
- (ii) The subgroup $\langle U \rangle$ is virtually cyclic and contains a loxodromic element.
- (iii) There exists an α -reduced subset $S \subset U^c$ such that

$$|S| \geqslant \max{\left\{2, \frac{1}{c}|U|\right\}}.$$

Moreover,

$$\omega(U) \geqslant \frac{1}{c} \log |U|.$$

Our main contribution to Theorem 4.8 is the dependence of the involved constants: for our purpose it is important that the number c only depends on the acylindricity parameters κ and N.

Remark 1.11. — If the injectivity radius of the action of G on X is large, then every finite symmetric subset of G satisfies either (ii) or (iii). In general this is however not the case. We will later use uniform uniform exponential growth of G in order to apply Theorem 4.8 to some power of an arbitrary symmetric subset U in G.

Theorem 4.8 with *Fekete's Subadditive Lemma* and the fact that $\omega(U^n) = n\omega(U)$ implies the following corollary. It is a weak form of *purely exponential growth*, [11, 37].

COROLLARY 1.12. — For every κ , N > 0, there exists $\xi > 1$ with the following property. Let $\delta > 0$ and $\kappa \ge \delta$. Let G be a group acting (κ, N) -acylindrically on a δ -hyperbolic space X. Let $U \subset G$ be a finite symmetric subset containing the identity of energy $L(U) > 10^4 \kappa$ that does not generate a virtually cyclic subgroup. Then, for every $n \ge 0$,

 $e^{n\omega(U)} \leq |U^n| \leq e^{\xi n\omega(U)}.$

To prove Theorem 1.2 (i), we follow a strategy of [19] that estimates product set growth in Burnside groups. In particular, we use the viewpoint of geometric small cancellation theory. As previously mentioned, the Small Cancellation Theorem gives a universal constant $\overline{\delta} > 0$ such that any geometric small cancellation quotient \overline{G} of a group G acting acylindrically on a δ -hyperbolic space X, for appropriate choice of the small cancellation parameters, acts acylindrically on a $\bar{\delta}$ -hyperbolic space \bar{X} . Let $\bar{U} \subset \bar{G}$ be a finite symmetric generating set containing the identity that is not contained in an elliptic or virtually cyclic subgroup. If the energy of \overline{U} is larger than $10^4 \overline{\delta}$, then the exponential growth rate of \overline{U} is bounded below by a universal strictly positive constant (Lemma 2.23). Otherwise, we fix a pre-image U of \overline{U} in G of minimal energy for the action of G on X (Lemma 2.32). Such a pre-image may not have large energy > $10^4 \delta$. Indeed, it may consist entirely of torsion-elements and thus have small energy $< 10^4 \delta$. However, our pre-image U is not contained in any elliptic subgroup. Thus some power of U contains a loxodromic element, hence, for some exponent n, we have $L(U^n) > 10^4 \delta$. We stress that the exponent n depends on the set U. We now apply Theorem 1.10 to U^n . Since U is not contained in any virtually cyclic subgroup, we obtain a reduced subset Sin U^{cn} , which freely generates a free subgroup. Next, we adapt the counting argument of [13, 19] to prove that for every $r \ge 1$, the proportion of elements in S^r that contain a large part of a relator is small compared to $|S^r|$ (Proposition 5.9). A combination of a consequence of Greendlinger's Lemma (Proposition 5.16) and Fekete's Subadditive Lemma then implies that the exponential growth rate of \overline{U} satisfies

$$\omega(\bar{U}) \geqslant \beta \cdot \omega(U).$$

for

$$\beta = \sup_{\theta \in (0,1)} \inf \left\{ \theta \cdot \frac{\log \frac{3}{2}}{\log (2c)}, 1 - \theta \right\} \cdot \frac{1}{c}.$$

Finally, assume that G has ξ -uniform uniform exponential growth. A combination of this fact with the previous inequality yields Theorem 1.2 (i). The proof of Theorem 1.2 (ii) is similar and we postpone its discussion.

1.5. Outline of the article

In Section 2.1 we will overview Gromov hyperbolic spaces, acylindricity and geometric small cancellation theory. In section 3 we will see that reduced subsets generate free

subgroups with the Geodesic Extension Property. This property will be relevant to the counting argument of subsection 5.2. In section 4 we generalise work of M. Koubi, [31], and G. Arzhantseva - I. Lysenok, [4]. The goal is to produce reduced subsets inside uniform powers of other subsets of isometries. In section 5 we study the subsets of shortening-free words of a free subgroup generated by a reduced subset. These are infinite subsets, each depending on a geometric small cancellation family, such that (i) their elements are not killed when taking the geometric small cancellation quotient and (ii) their relative growth rate does not decrease too much when taking the geometric small cancellation 5.2 and subsection 5.3, respectively. Finally, Section 5 is devoted to the proof of our main theorem (Theorem 1.2).

1.6. Acknowledgements

We are very grateful to Rémi Coulon for encouraging to do this work and for helpful comments and answers to questions. Many thanks to Yago Antolín for a careful reading of the original manuscript. The first author is grateful to the *Centre Henri Lebesgue* ANR-11-LABX-0020-01 for creating an attractive mathematical environment and was supported by grants SEV-2015-0554-18-4 and PID2021-126254NB-I00 funded by MCIN/AEI/10.13039/501100011033. The second author was supported by Austrian Science Fund (FWF) project P 35079-N. Both authors were supported in parts by LabEx CARMIN, ANR-10-LABX-59-01 of the Institut Henri Poincaré (UAR 839 CNRS-Sorbonne Université) during the trimester program *Groups Acting on Fractals, Hyperbolicity and Self-Similarity*.

2. Hyperbolic geometry

We collect some facts on hyperbolic geometry in the sense of Gromov, [28], including its version of small cancellation theory, [22, 29]. See also [12, 16, 26, 30].

2.1. Hyperbolicity

Let X be a metric space. Given two points $x, x' \in X$ we write |x - x'| for the distance between them and [x, x'] for a geodesic joining them. Recall that there may be multiple geodesics joining two points. If $Y \subset X$ is a subset and $x \in X$ a point, we write $d(x, Y) = \inf_{y \in Y} |x - y|$ to denote the *distance from* x to Y. Given $\varepsilon \ge 0$, we let $Y^{+\varepsilon} = \{x \in X : d(x, Y) \le \varepsilon\}$ be the ε -neighbourhood of Y. The Gromov product of three points $x, y, z \in X$ is defined by

$$(x,y)_z = \frac{1}{2}\{|x-z| + |y-z| - |x-y|\}.$$

DEFINITION 2.1. — Let $\delta \ge 0$. The metric space X is δ -hyperbolic if it is geodesic and

for every x, y, z and $t \in X$, the four point inequality holds, that is

$$(x,z)_t \ge \min\left\{(x,y)_t, (y,z)_t\right\} - \delta.$$

Convention 2.2. — Let $\delta \ge 0$. For the remainder of this section, we assume that the space X is δ -hyperbolic. If $\delta = 0$, then it can be isometrically embedded in an **R**-tree, [26, Chapitre 2, Proposition 6]. Note that X is δ' -hyperbolic for every $\delta' \ge \delta$. In this chapter we always assume for convenience that the hyperbolicity constant δ is positive.

We write ∂X for the Gromov boundary of X. We can use the boundary defined with sequences converging at infinity, [12, Chapitre 2, Définition 1.1]. Note that we did not assume the space X to be proper, thus we use the boundary defined with sequences converging at infinity, [12, Chapitre 2, Définition 1.1]. Hyperbolicity has the following consequences.

LEMMA 2.3 ([23, Lemmas 2.3 and 2.4]). — Let $x, y, z \in X$. Then

$$(x,y)_z \leqslant d(z,[x,y]) \leqslant (x,y)_z + 4\delta.$$

LEMMA 2.4 ([4, Lemma 2]). — Let $i \in [1, 2]$. Let $x_i, y_i \in X$. Then

$$|x_1 - y_1| + |x_2 - y_2| \leq |x_1 - x_2| + |y_1 - y_2| + 2\operatorname{diam}([x_1, y_1]^{+8\delta} \cap [x_2, y_2]^{+8\delta}).$$

2.2. Quasi-convexity

Let $\eta \ge 0$. A subset $Y \subset X$ is η -quasi-convex if every geodesic joining two points of Y is contained in $Y^{+\eta}$. For instance, geodesics are 2δ -quasi-convex. A subset $Y \subset X$ is strongly quasi-convex if it is 2δ -quasi-convex and for every $y, y' \in Y$, the induced path metric $|\cdot|_Y$ on Y satisfies

$$|y - y'|_X \leq |y - y'|_Y \leq |y - y'|_X + 8\delta.$$

Quasi-convexity in hyperbolic spaces has the following consequences.

LEMMA 2.5 ([12, Chapitre 1, Proposition 3.1];[23, Lemma 2.4]). — Let $\eta \ge 0$. Let $Y \subset X$ be an η -quasi-convex subset. Then for every $x \in X$ and for every $y, y' \in Y$,

$$d(x,Y) \leqslant (y,y')_x + \eta + 3\delta.$$

Given a point $x \in X$ and a subset $Y \subset X$, then $y \in Y$ is a *projection* of x on Y if

$$|x - y| \leqslant d(x, Y) + \delta.$$

LEMMA 2.6 ([12, Chapitre 2, Proposition 2.1];[14, Lemma 2.12]). — Let $\eta \ge 0$. Let $Y \subset X$ be an η -quasi-convex subset.

(i) Let $x \in X$. Let y be a projection of x on Y. Then for every $y' \in Y$, $(x, y')_y \leq \eta + \delta$.

(ii) Let $i \in [1, 2]$. Let $x_i \in X$. Let y_i be a projection of x_i on Y. Then,

$$|y_1 - y_2| \leq \max\{|x_1 - x_2| - |x_1 - y_1| - |x_2 - y_2| + 2\varepsilon, \varepsilon\},\$$

where $\varepsilon = 2\eta + 3\delta$.

LEMMA 2.7 ([12, Chapitre 10, Proposition 1.2]; [14, Lemma 2.13]). — Let $\eta \ge 0$. Let $Y \subset X$ be an η -quasi-convex subset. Then for every $\varepsilon \ge \eta$, the subset $Y^{+\varepsilon}$ is 2δ -quasi-convex.

LEMMA 2.8 ([22, Lemma 2.2.2 (2)]; [14, Lemma 2.16]). — Let $i \in [\![1, 2]\!]$. Let $\eta_i \ge 0$. Let $Y_i \subset X$ be an η_i -quasi-convex subset. Then for every $\varepsilon \ge 0$,

$$\operatorname{diam}(Y_1^{+\varepsilon} \cap Y_2^{+\varepsilon}) \leqslant \operatorname{diam}(Y_1^{+\eta_1+3\delta} \cap Y_2^{+\eta_2+3\delta}) + 2\varepsilon + 4\delta.$$

2.3. Isometries

Let G be a group acting by isometries on X. Let $x \in X$ be a point.

Classification of isometries. Recall that an isometry $g \in G$ is either *elliptic*, i.e. the orbit $\langle g \rangle \cdot x$ is bounded, *loxodromic*, i.e. the map $\mathbb{Z} \to X$ sending *m* to $g^m x$ is a quasiisometric embedding or *parabolic*, i.e. it is neither loxodromic or elliptic, [12, Chapitre 9, Théorème 2.1]. Note that these definitions do not depend on the point *x*.

Translation lengths. To measure the action of an isometry $g \in G$ on X we define the *translation length* and the *stable translation length* as

$$||g|| = \inf_{x \in X} |gx - x|$$
, and $||g||^{\infty} = \lim_{n \to +\infty} \frac{1}{n} |g^n x - x|$.

Note that the definition of $||g||^{\infty}$ does not depend on the point x. These two lengths are related as follows, [12, Chapitre 10, Proposition 6.4].

(2.1)
$$\|g\|^{\infty} \leqslant \|g\| \leqslant \|g\|^{\infty} + 16\delta.$$

The isometry g is *loxodromic* if, and only if, its stable translation length is positive, [12, Ch. 10, Prop. 6.3].

Axis. The *axis* of $g \in G$ is the set

$$A_g = \{ x \in X : |gx - x| \le ||g|| + 8\delta \}.$$



LEMMA 2.9 ([22, Proposition 2.3.3]; [14, Proposition 2.28]). — Let $g \in G$. Then A_g is 10δ -quasi-convex and $\langle g \rangle$ -invariant. Moreover, for every $x \in X$,

$$||g|| + 2d(x, A_g) - 10\delta \leq |gx - x| \leq ||g|| + 2d(x, A_g) + 10\delta.$$

 ℓ^{∞} -Energy. To measure the action of a finite subset of isometries $U \subset G$ on X we define the ℓ^{∞} -energy of U at x and the ℓ^{∞} -energy of U as

$$\mathcal{L}(U, x) = \max_{u \in U} |ux - x|$$
, and $\mathcal{L}(U) = \inf_{x \in X} \mathcal{L}(U, x)$.

The point x is almost-minimizing the ℓ^{∞} -energy of U if $L(U, x) \leq L(U) + \delta$. It is easy to see that the translation length and the ℓ^{∞} -energy are related as follows. For every $g \in U$,

$$(2.2) ||g|| \leq \mathcal{L}(U).$$

2.4. Group action on a δ -hyperbolic space

Let G be a group acting by isometries on X.

Classification of group actions. We denote by ∂G the set of all accumulation points of an orbit $G \cdot x$ in the boundary ∂X . This set does not depend on the point x. One says that the action of G on X is

- ▶ *elliptic*, if ∂G is empty, or equivalently if one (hence any) orbit of G is bounded;
- ▶ *parabolic*, if ∂G contains exactly one point;
- ▶ *loxodromic*, if ∂G contains exactly two points;
- ▶ non-elementary, if ∂G contains at least 3 points, or equivalently if ∂G is infinite.

If the action of G is elliptic, parabolic or loxodromic, we will say that this action is *elementary*. In this context, being elliptic (respectively parabolic, loxodromic, etc) refers to the action of G on X. However, if there is no ambiguity we will simply say that G is elliptic (respectively parabolic, loxodromic, etc).

LEMMA 2.10 ([15, Propositon 3.6]). — If $|\partial G| \ge 2$, then G contains a loxodromic isometry.

Acylindricity. For our purpose we require some properness for this action. We will use an acylindrical action on a metric space, keeping in mind the parameters that appear in the definition, [20, Proposition 5.31]. Recall that we assumed X to be δ -hyperbolic, with $\delta > 0$.



DEFINITION 2.11 (Acylindrical action). — Let κ , N > 0. The group G acts (κ, N) acylindrically on the δ -hyperbolic space X if the following holds: for every $x, y \in X$ with $|x-y| \ge \kappa$, the number of elements $u \in G$ satisfying $|ux-x| \le 100\delta$ and $|uy-y| \le 100\delta$ is bounded above by N.

DEFINITION 2.12 (Global injectivity radius). — The global injectivity radius of the action of G on X is

$$T(G, X) = \inf\{ \|g\|^{\infty} : g \in G \text{ loxodromic} \},\$$

with the convention $\inf \emptyset = +\infty$.

LEMMA 2.13 ([8, Lemma 4.2]; c.f. [18, Lemma 3.9]). — Assume that the action of G on X is (κ, N) -acylindrical. Then

$$T(G,X) \ge \frac{\delta}{N}$$

Loxodromic subgroups. Let $\kappa \ge 1$ and $l \ge 0$. Let $\gamma : [a, b] \to X$ be a rectifiable path with $a, b \in \mathbf{R} \cup \{-\infty, \infty\}$. We say that γ is a (κ, l) -quasi-geodesic if for all $[a', b'] \subset [a, b]$,

$$\operatorname{length}(\gamma[a', b']) \leqslant k |\gamma(a') - \gamma(b')| + l.$$

Let $L \ge 0$. We say that γ is a *L*-local (κ, l) -quasi-geodesic if any subpath of γ whose length is at most *L* is a (κ, l) -quasi-geodesic. Let $H \le G$ be a loxodromic subgroup with limit set $\partial H = \{\xi, \eta\}$. The *H*-invariant cylinder, denoted by C_H , is the open 20 δ -neighborhood of all $10^3\delta$ -local $(1, \delta)$ -quasi-geodesics with endpoints ξ and η at infinity.

LEMMA 2.14 (Invariant cylinder; [15, Lemma 3.13]). — Let $H \leq G$ be a loxodromic subgroup. Then the subset C_H is invariant under the action of H and strongly quasiconvex.

LEMMA 2.15 ([14, Corollary 2.7]). — Let $\gamma: I \to X$ be a 10³ δ -local $(1, \delta)$ -quasi-geodesic. Then:

- (i) For every $t, t', s \in I$ such that $t \leq s \leq t'$, we have $(\gamma(t), \gamma(t'))_{\gamma(s)} \leq 6\delta$.
- (ii) For every $x \in X$ and for every $y, y' \in \gamma$, we have $d(x, \gamma) \leq (y, y')_x + 9\delta$.

The maximal loxodromic subgroup containing H is the stabiliser of the set ∂H . For a loxodromic element $g \in G$, we denote by E(g) the maximal loxodromic subgroup containing g. We define the equivalence relation \sim_g on G by $u \sim_g v$ if and only if $u^{-1}v \in E(g)$, for every $u, v \in G$. The fellow travelling constant of a loxodromic element $g \in G$ is

$$\Delta(g) = \sup\{\operatorname{diam}(uA_g^{+20\delta} \cap vA_g^{+20\delta}): \ u, v \in G, u \not\sim_g v\}$$

LEMMA 2.16 ([20, Proof of Proposition 6.29]). — Assume that the action of G on X is (κ, N) -acylindrical. Let $g \in G$ be a loxodromic element. Then

$$\Delta(g) \leqslant \kappa + (N+2) \|g\|^{\infty} + 100\delta.$$

LEMMA 2.17 ([20, Lemma 6.5]). — Assume that the action of G on X is acylindrical. Let $g \in G$ be a loxodromic element. Then E(g) is virtually cyclic.

The subgroup $H^+ \leq G$ fixing pointwise ∂H is an at most index 2 subgroup of H. The next corollary is a well-known consequence of Lemma 2.10, Lemma 2.17 and [36, Lemma 4.1].

COROLLARY 2.18. — Assume that the action of G on X is acylindrical. The set F of all elements of finite order of H^+ is a finite normal subgroup of H. Moreover there exists a loxodromic element $h \in H^+$ such that the map $F \rtimes_{\phi} \langle h \rangle \to H^+$ that sends (f,g) to fg is an isomorphism, where $\phi \colon \langle h \rangle \to \operatorname{Aut}(F)$ is the action by conjugacy of $\langle h \rangle$ on F.

For a loxodromic element $g \in G$, we denote by F(g) the set of all elements of finite order of $E^+(g)$. We say that g is *primitive* if its image in $E^+(g)/F(g)$ generates the quotient. The following lemma permits to produce primitive loxodromic elements uniformly. It will be useful during section section 4.

LEMMA 2.19 ([31]; [4]; [25, Lemma 2.7]). — For every $\kappa > 0$ and N > 0 there exists a positive integer n_0 with the following property. Let $U \subset G$ be a finite symmetric subset containing the identity. Assume that the action of G on X is (κ, N) -acylindrical. If $L(U) > 50\delta$, then there exist a primitive loxodromic element $g \in U^{n_0}$ such that

$$||g||^{\infty} \ge \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{L}(U).$$

DEFINITION 2.20 (Loxodromic wideness). — The *loxodromic wideness* of the action of G on X is

$$\Phi(G, X) = \sup\{ |F(g)| : g \in G \ loxodromic \},\$$

with the convention $\sup \emptyset = -\infty$.

LEMMA 2.21 ([34, Lem. 6.8]). — Assume that the action of G on X is (κ, N) -acylindrical. Then

$$\Phi(G, X) \leqslant N.$$

Classification of acylindrical actions. Following the proof of D. Osin [34, Theorem 1.1], one gets the following classification. It already appears in [28].

LEMMA 2.22. — Assume that the action of G on X is acylindrical. Then G satisfies exactly one of the following three conditions.

- (i) G is elliptic, or equivalently one (hence any) orbit of G is bounded.
- (ii) G is loxodromic, or equivalently G is virtually cyclic and contains a loxodromic element.
- (iii) G is non-elementary, or equivalently H contains a free group \mathbf{F}_2 of rank 2 and one (hence any) orbit of \mathbf{F}_2 is unbounded.

In particular, if the action of G on X is acylindrical, then every isometry $g \in G$ is either elliptic or loxodromic, [8]. The following trichotomy is a direct consequence of the previous lemma and [9, Theorem 13.1].

LEMMA 2.23. — Let G be a group acting acylindrically on a δ -hyperbolic space X. Let $U \subset G$ be a finite symmetric subset containing the identity. Then one of the following conditions holds:

(T'1) L $(U) \leq 10^4 \delta$.

(T'2) The subgroup $\langle U \rangle$ is virtually cyclic and contains a loxodromic element.

 $(T'3) \ \omega(U) \ge \frac{1}{10^3} \log 3.$

2.5. Small cancellation theory

Let G be a group acting by isometries on X. We recall that X is a δ -hyperbolic space.

Loxodromic moving family. The following definition generalises the conjugacy closure of a symmetrised set of relations in classical small cancellation theory.

DEFINITION 2.24 (Loxodromic moving family). — A *loxodromic moving family* \mathcal{Q} is a set of the form

$$\mathscr{Q} = \{ (g \langle h \rangle g^{-1}, gC_h) \in \mathscr{Q} : g \in G, h \in \mathscr{L} \},\$$

where $\mathscr{L} \subset G$ is a set of loxodromic elements and C_h stands for the $\langle h \rangle$ -invariant cylinder.

Let \mathcal{Q} be a loxodromic moving family. The *fellow travelling constant of* \mathcal{Q} is

$$\Delta(\mathscr{Q}, X) = \sup\{\operatorname{diam}(Y_1^{+20\delta} \cap Y_2^{+20\delta}) : (H_1, Y_1) \neq (H_2, Y_2) \in \mathscr{Q}\}.$$

The injectivity radius of \mathcal{Q} is

$$T(\mathcal{Q}, X) = \inf\{ \|h\| : h \in H - \{1\}, (H, Y) \in \mathcal{Q} \}.$$

Note that here we require the translation length and not the stable translation length, which was present in the definition of the global injectivity radius T(G, X). We denote $K = \langle \!\langle H \mid (H, Y) \in \mathcal{Q} \rangle \!\rangle$ and $\overline{G} = G/K$. We denote by $\pi \colon G \twoheadrightarrow \overline{G}$ the natural projection and write \overline{g} for $\pi(g)$ for short, for every $g \in G$. The notation \overline{U} may refer to either a subset of \overline{G} or to $\pi(U)$, for some $U \subset G$.

DEFINITION 2.25 (Small cancellation condition). — Let $\lambda > 0$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. We say that \mathscr{Q} satisfies the geometric $C''(\lambda, \varepsilon)$ -small cancellation condition if:

- (SC1) $\Delta(\mathscr{Q}, X) < \lambda \operatorname{T}(\mathscr{Q}, X),$
- $(\mathrm{SC2}) \ \mathrm{T}(\mathscr{Q},X) > \varepsilon \delta.$

In that case we say that \overline{G} is a geometric $C''(\lambda, \varepsilon)$ -small cancellation quotient.

Cone-off space. Let $\rho > 0$. We denote by \mathscr{Y} the collection of cylinders gC_h such that $g \in G$ and $h \in \mathscr{L}$. Let $Y \in \mathscr{Y}$. Note that $gC_h = C_{ghg^{-1}}$. The cone of radius ρ over Y, denoted by $Z_{\rho}(Y)$, is the quotient of $Y \times [0, \rho]$ by the equivalence relation that identifies all the points of the form (y, 0). The apex of the cone $Z_{\rho}(Y)$ is the equivalence class of (y, 0). By abuse of notation, we still write (y, 0) for the equivalence class of (y, 0). We denote by \mathscr{V} the collection of apices of the cones over the elements of \mathscr{Y} . Let $\iota: Y \hookrightarrow Z_{\rho}(Y)$ be the map that sends y to (y, ρ) . The cone-off space of radius ρ over X relative to \mathscr{Q} , denoted by $\dot{X}_{\rho} = \dot{X}_{\rho}(\mathscr{Q}, X)$, is the space obtained by attaching for every $Y \in \mathscr{Y}$, the cone $Z_{\rho}(Y)$ on X along Y according to $\iota: Y \hookrightarrow Z_{\rho}(Y)$. There is a natural metric on $\dot{X}_{\rho}(\mathscr{Q})$ and an action by isometries of G on \dot{X}_{ρ} .

Quotient space. The quotient space of radius ρ over X relative to \mathcal{Q} , denoted by $\bar{X}_{\rho} = \bar{X}_{\rho}(\mathcal{Q}, X)$, is the orbit space \dot{X}_{ρ}/K . We denote by $\zeta : \dot{X}_{\rho} \twoheadrightarrow \bar{X}_{\rho}$ the natural projection and write \bar{x} for $\zeta(x)$ for short. Furthermore, we denote by $\bar{\mathcal{V}}$ the image in \bar{X}_{ρ} of the apices \mathcal{V} . We consider \bar{X}_{ρ} as a metric space equipped with the quotient metric, that is for every $x, x' \in \dot{X}_{\rho}$

$$|\bar{x} - \bar{x}'|_{\bar{X}} = \inf_{h \in K} |hx - x'|_{\dot{X}}.$$

We note that the action of G on \dot{X}_{ρ} induces an action by isometries of \bar{G} on \bar{X}_{ρ} .

Convention 2.26. — In what follows, we are going to assume that X is a metric graph whose edges all have the same constant length. This is to ensure that both the cone-off space \dot{X}_{ρ} and the quotient space \bar{X}_{ρ} are geodesic spaces, [10, I.7.19]. This is not a restrictive assumption, as explained in [20, Section 5.3].

The following lemma summarises Proposition 3.15 and Theorem 6.11 of [14]. It will be central in the proof of Theorem 1.2.

LEMMA 2.27 (Small Cancellation Theorem [14]). — There exist positive numbers δ_0 , δ , Δ_0 , ρ_0 satisfying the following. Let $0 < \delta \leq \delta_0$ and $\rho > \rho_0$. Let G be a group acting by isometries on a δ -hyperbolic space X. Let \mathscr{Q} be a loxodromic moving family such that $\Delta(\mathscr{Q}, X) \leq \Delta_0$ and $T(\mathscr{Q}, X) > 100\pi \sinh \rho$. Then:

- (i) \bar{X}_{ρ} is a $\bar{\delta}$ -hyperbolic space on which \bar{G} acts by isometries.
- (ii) Let $r \in (0, \rho/20]$. If for all $v \in \mathcal{V}$, the distance $|x v| \ge 2r$ then the projection $\zeta : \dot{X}_{\rho} \to \bar{X}_{\rho}$ induces an isometry from B(x, r) onto $B(\bar{x}, r)$.
- (iii) Let $(H, Y) \in \mathcal{Q}$. If $v \in \mathcal{V}$ stands for the apex of the cone $Z_{\rho}(Y)$, then the natural projection $\pi: G \twoheadrightarrow \overline{G}$ induces an isomorphism from $\operatorname{Stab}(Y)/H$ onto $\operatorname{Stab}(\overline{v})$. \Box

Remark 2.28. — It is important to note that in this statement the constants δ_0 , $\bar{\delta}$, Δ_0 , ρ_0 are independent of G, X, \mathcal{Q} or δ . Moreover δ_0 and Δ_0 (respectively ρ_0) can be chosen

arbitrarily small (respectively large). We will refer to δ_0 , $\overline{\delta}$, Δ_0 , ρ_0 as the constants of the Small Cancellation Theorem.

For the remainder of this subsection, we choose δ , ρ , G, X, and \mathscr{Q} satisfying the hypothesis of the Small Cancellation Theorem (Lemma 2.27). The following lemmas are consequence of the Small Cancellation Theorem.

LEMMA 2.29 ([15, Proposition 5.16]). — Let E be an elliptic (respectively loxodromic) subgroup of G for its action on X. Then the image of E through the natural projection $\pi: G \to \overline{G}$ is elliptic (respectively elementary) for its action on \overline{X}_{ρ} .

LEMMA 2.30 ([15, Proposition 5.17]). — Let E be an elliptic subgroup of G for its action on X. Then the natural projection $\pi: G \twoheadrightarrow \overline{G}$ induces an isomorphism from E onto its image.

LEMMA 2.31 ([15, Proposition 5.18]). — Let \overline{E} be an elliptic subgroup of \overline{G} for its action on \overline{X}_{ρ} . One of the following holds.

- (i) There exists an elliptic subgroup E of G for its action on X such that the natural projection $\pi: G \to \overline{G}$ induces an isomorphism from E onto \overline{E} .
- (ii) There exists $\bar{v} \in \tilde{\mathscr{V}}$ such that $\bar{E} \subset \operatorname{Stab}(\bar{v})$.

LEMMA 2.32 ([19, Proposition 9.13]). — Let $\overline{U} \subset \overline{G}$ be a finite set such that $L(\overline{U}) \leq \rho/5$. If, for every $\overline{v} \in \overline{V}$, the set \overline{U} is not contained in $\operatorname{Stab}(\overline{v})$, then there exists a pre-image $U \subset G$ of \overline{U} of energy $L(U) \leq \pi \sinh L(\overline{U})$.

LEMMA 2.33 (Greendlinger's Lemma). — Let $x \in X$. Let $g \in G$. If $g \in K - \{1\}$, then there exists $(H, Y) \in \mathcal{Q}$ with the following property. Let y_0 an y_1 be the respective projections of x and gx on Y. Then

$$|y_0 - y_1| > T(H, X) - 2\pi \sinh \rho - 23\delta.$$

Remark 2.34. — The previous statement is obtained from [17, Theorem 3.5] after applying [17, Proposition 1.11], [14, Proposition 2.4 (2)] and [14, Lemma 2.31]. Note that in [17, Theorem 3.5] there is an extra assumption saying that the loxodromic moving family is finite up to conjugacy. That assumption is only needed to make sure that the action is co-compact, hence the quotient group hyperbolic. We don't need it here.

LEMMA 2.35 ([20, Proposition 5.33]). — If the action of G on X is acylindrical, then so is the action of \overline{G} on \overline{X}_{ρ} .

3. Reduced subsets

Let $\delta \ge 0$. In this section, we fix a group G acting by isometries on a δ -hyperbolic space X. The set of the inverses in G of the elements of $U \subset G$ is represented by U^{-1} .

DEFINITION 3.1. — Let $\alpha > 0$. We say that a finite subset $U \subset G$ is α -reduced at $p \in X$ if $U \cap U^{-1} = \emptyset$ and for every pair of distinct $u_1, u_2 \in U \sqcup U^{-1}$,

$$(u_1p, u_2p)_p < \frac{1}{2}\min\{|u_1p - p|, |u_2p - p|\} - \alpha - 2\delta.$$

Remark 3.2. — If $U \subset G$ is α -reduced at $p \in X$, then $|up-p| > 2\alpha$, for every $u \in U \sqcup U^{-1}$.

We clarify some vocabulary. Let $U \subset G$ be a subset. A *letter* is an element of the *alphabet* $U \sqcup U^{-1}$. A *word over* $U \sqcup U^{-1}$ is any finite sequence $u_1 \cdots u_n$ with $u_i \in U \sqcup U^{-1}$. The number n is called the *length* of the the given word $u_1 \cdots u_n$. We denote by $|w|_U$ the length of any word w over $U \sqcup U^{-1}$. We admit the word of length 0, the *empty word*. We write $w_1 \equiv w_2$ to express letter-for-letter equality of words w_1 and w_2 over $U \sqcup U^{-1}$. A word $u_1 \cdots u_n$ over $U \sqcup U^{-1}$ is *reduced* if it does not contain a pair of adjacent letters of the form $u_i u_i^{-1}$ or $u_i^{-1} u_i$. The *free group* $\mathbf{F}(U)$ is the set of reduced words over $U \sqcup U^{-1}$ with the group operation "concatenate and reduce". The *natural homomorphism* $\psi \colon \mathbf{F}(U) \to G$ is the evaluation of the elements of $\mathbf{F}(U)$ on G.

3.1. Broken geodesics

The next lemma is used to produce quasi-geodesics by concatenating some sequences of points of X with geodesics.

LEMMA 3.3 (Broken Geodesic Lemma [4, Lemma 1]). — Let $n \ge 2$. Let x_0, \dots, x_n be a sequence of n + 1 points of X. Assume that

$$(3.1) (x_{i-1}, x_{i+1})_{x_i} + (x_i, x_{i+2})_{x_{i+1}} < |x_i - x_{i+1}| - 3\delta,$$

for every $i \in [1, n-2]$. Then the following holds.

(i)
$$|x_0 - x_n| \ge \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} |x_i - x_{i+1}| - 2\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} (x_{i-1}, x_{i+1})_{x_i} - 2(n-2)\delta.$$

- (ii) $(x_0, x_n)_{x_j} \leq (x_{j-1}, x_{j+1})_{x_j} + 2\delta$, for every $j \in [[1, n-1]]$.
- (iii) The geodesic $[x_0, x_n]$ lies in the 5 δ -neighbourhood of the broken geodesic $\gamma = [x_0, x_1] \cup \cdots \cup [x_{n-1}, x_n]$, while γ is contained in the r-neighbourhood of $[x_0, x_n]$, where

$$r = \sup_{1 \le i \le n-1} (x_{i-1}, x_{i+1})_{x_i} + 14\delta.$$

We verify the condition of Lemma 3.3 permitting to obtain broken geodesics.

PROPOSITION 3.4. — Let $\alpha > 0$. Let $U \subset G$ be an α -reduced subset at $p \in X$. Let $n \ge 2$. Let $w \equiv u_1 \cdots u_n$ be an element of $\mathbf{F}(U)$. Consider the sequence of n + 1 points

 $x_0 = p, \quad x_1 = u_1 p, \quad x_2 = u_1 u_2 p, \quad \cdots, \quad x_n = u_1 \cdots u_n p.$





Figure 1: A sequence (x_i) satisfying Equation 3.1. This sequence does not correspond to a reduced word over a reduced subset since for every *i*, the midpoint m_i of the geodesic $[x_{i-1}, x_i]$ falls inside the overlap of two consecutive geodesics.



Figure 2: Another sequence (x_i) satisfying Equation 3.1. This sequence could correspond to a reduced word over an α -reduced subset since for every *i*, the midpoint m_i of the geodesic $[x_{i-1}, x_i]$ falls at distance at least α from the the overlap of two consecutive geodesics. The geodesic segments in red have length 2α . In particular, every geodesic $[x_{i-1}, x_i]$ that does not fall in any of the two extremes has length at least 2α .

Then

(i)
$$(x_{i-1}, x_{i+1})_{x_i} + (x_i, x_{i+2})_{x_{i+1}} < |x_i - x_{i+1}| - 2(\alpha + 2\delta)$$
, for every $i \in [\![1, n-2]\!]$.
(ii) $|wp - p| \ge \frac{1}{2}|u_1p - p| + \frac{1}{2}|u_np - p| + 2(n-1)(\alpha + \delta) + 2\delta$.
Proof. — (i) Let $i \in [\![1, n-2]\!]$. We have

$$(x_{i-1}, x_{i+1})_{x_i} = (u_i^{-1}p, u_{i+1}p)_p, \quad (x_i, x_{i+2})_{x_{i+1}} = (u_{i+1}^{-1}p, u_{i+2}p)_p$$

and $|x_i - x_{i+1}| = |p - u_{i+1}p|$. Since w is a reduced word over $U \sqcup U^{-1}$, we have $u_i^{-1} \neq u_{i+1}$ and $u_{i+1}^{-1} \neq u_{i+2}$. Hence we can apply the fact that the subset U is α -reduced at p, obtaining

$$(u_i^{-1}p, u_{i+1}p)_p < \frac{1}{2}|u_{i+1}p - p| - \alpha - 2\delta, \quad (u_{i+1}^{-1}p, u_{i+2}p)_p < \frac{1}{2}|u_{i+1}^{-1}p - p| - \alpha - 2\delta.$$

It remains to add the two above inequalities to obtain

$$(x_{i-1}, x_{i+1})_{x_i} + (x_i, x_{i+2})_{x_{i+1}} < |x_i - x_{i+1}| - 2(\alpha + 2\delta).$$

(ii) Since $n \ge 2$, applying (i) and Lemma 3.3 (i) to the sequence x_0, \dots, x_n , we obtain

$$|wp - p| \ge |u_1p - p| + \sum_{i=2}^{n-1} |u_ip - p| + |u_np - p|$$

- $(u_1^{-1}p, u_2p)_p - \sum_{i=2}^{n-1} [(u_i^{-1}p, u_{i+1}p)_p + (u_{i-1}^{-1}p, u_ip)_p] - (u_{n-1}^{-1}p, u_np)$
- $2(n-2)\delta.$

Since U is α -reduced at p,

$$\sum_{i=2}^{n-1} [(u_i^{-1}p, u_{i+1}p)_p + (u_{i-1}^{-1}p, u_ip)_p] < \sum_{i=2}^{n-1} |u_ip - p| - 2(n-2)(\alpha + 2\delta).$$

and

$$(u_1^{-1}p, u_2p)_p < \frac{1}{2}|u_1p - p| - \alpha - 2\delta, \quad (u_{n-1}^{-1}p, u_np) < \frac{1}{2}|u_np - p| - \alpha - 2\delta.$$

Consequently,

$$|wp - p| \ge \frac{1}{2}|u_1p - p| + \frac{1}{2}|u_np - p| + 2(n-1)(\alpha + \delta) + 2\delta.$$

3.2. Quasi-isometric embedding of a free group

Recall that L(U, p) denotes the ℓ^{∞} -energy of $U \subset G$ at $p \in X$ (subsection 2.3).

PROPOSITION 3.5. — Let $\alpha > 0$. Let $U \subset G$ be an α -reduced subset at $p \in X$. Then, for every $w \in \mathbf{F}(U)$, we have

$$2\alpha |w|_U \leqslant |wp - p| \leqslant \mathcal{L}(U, p)|w|_U.$$

In particular, the natural homomorphism $\psi \colon \mathbf{F}(U) \to G$ is injective.

Proof. — Let $w \equiv u_1 \cdots u_n$ be an element of $\mathbf{F}(U)$. If n = 0, then there is nothing to do. If n = 1, then the result is a direct consequence of the fact that the subset U is α -reduced. Assume that $n \ge 2$. It follows from the triangle inequality that $|wp - p| \le L(U, p)n$. In regards to the second inequality, we apply Proposition 3.4 (ii) to the sequence of n + 1points

$$x_0 = p, \quad x_1 = u_1, \quad x_2 = u_1 u_2 p, \quad \cdots, \quad x_n = w p = u_1 \cdots u_n p$$

to obtain

$$|wp - p| \ge \frac{1}{2}|u_1p - p| + \frac{1}{2}|u_np - p| + 2(n-1)(\alpha + \delta) + 2\delta.$$

According to Remark 3.2, we have

$$\max\left\{|u_1p - p|, |u_np - p|\right\} \ge 2\alpha.$$

Hence,

$$|wp - p| \ge 2\alpha n.$$

Finally, if $w \in \mathbf{F}(U)$ is not the empty word, then $|wp - p| \ge 2\alpha$. By definition, $\alpha > 0$. Therefore $w \ne 1$ in G. Consequently, the natural homomorphism $\psi : \mathbf{F}(U) \to G$ is injective. \Box

3.3. Geodesic extension property

This is the main result of this section. Our proof is based on [19, Lemma 3.2].

PROPOSITION 3.6. — Let $\alpha > 0$. Let $U \subset G$ be an α -reduced subset at p. Let $w \equiv u_1 \cdots u_m$ and $w' \equiv u'_1 \cdots u'_{m'}$ be two elements of $\mathbf{F}(U)$. Then U satisfies the geodesic extension property, that is, if

$$(p, w'p)_{wp} < \frac{1}{2}|u_m p - p| - \delta,$$

then w is a prefix of w'.

Remark 3.7. — The geodesic extension property has the following meaning: if the geodesic [p, w'p] extends [p, wp] as a path in X, then w' extends w as a word over $U \sqcup U^{-1}$.

Proof. — The proof is by contrapositive. Assume that w is not a prefix of w'. Let r be the largest integer such that $u_i = u'_i$, for every $i \in [1, r-1]$. In particular, $r \in [1, m]$.

For simplicity, denote

$$q = u_1 \cdots u_{r-1} p = u'_1 \cdots u'_{r-1} p.$$

It follows from the four point inequality that

(3.2)
$$(p, w'p)_{wp} \ge \min\{(p, q)_{wp}, (q, wp')_{wp}\} - \delta.$$

From now on, the focus will be on showing that

$$\min\{(p,q)_{wp}, (q,wp')_{wp}\} \ge \frac{1}{2}|u_mp - p|.$$

Using the definition of Gromov product,

(3.3)
$$(p,q)_{wp} = |wp-q| - (p,wp)_q, \quad (q,w'p)_{wp} = |wp-q| - (wp,w'p)_q.$$

We are going to estimate |wp - q|, $(p, wp)_q$, and $(wp, w'p)_q$.

Claim 3.8. — $|wp - q| \ge \frac{1}{2}|u_rp - p| + \frac{1}{2}|u_mp - p| + 2(m - r)(\alpha + \delta).$

Proof. — Note that $m - r + 1 \ge 1$. If m - r + 1 = 1, then there is nothing to do. If $m - r + 1 \ge 2$, then we apply Proposition 3.4 (ii) to the sequence of m - r + 2 points

 $q = u_1 \cdots u_{r-1}p, \quad u_1 \cdots u_r p, \quad u_1 \cdots u_{r+1}p, \quad \cdots, \quad wp = u_1 \cdots u_m p,$

and we obtain

$$|wp - q| \ge \frac{1}{2}|u_rp - p| + \frac{1}{2}|u_mp - p| + 2(m - r)(\alpha + \delta).$$

1	-	-	-	
	_	-	-	

For simplicity, denote

$$t = u_1 \cdots u_r p$$
 and $t' = u'_1 \cdots u'_r p$.

Claim 3.9. — $(p, wp)_q < \frac{1}{2}|u_r p - p|.$

Proof. — Applying Lemma 3.3 (ii) and Proposition 3.4 (i) to the sequence of m + 1 points

$$p, \quad u_1p, \quad u_1u_2p, \quad \cdots, \quad wp = u_1\cdots u_mp,$$

we get

$$(p, wp)_q \leq (u_1 \cdots u_{r-2}p, t)_q + 2\delta.$$

Since U is α -reduced at p,

$$(u_1 \cdots u_{r-2}p, t)_q = (u_{r-1}^{-1}p, u_r p)_p < \frac{1}{2}|u_r p - p| - \alpha - 2\delta.$$



Consequently,

$$(p,wp)_q < \frac{1}{2}|u_rp - p| - \alpha$$

This proves our claim.

Claim 3.10. — $(wp, w'p)_q < \frac{1}{2}|u_rp - p|.$

Proof. — If r - 1 = m', then w'p = q and the claim holds. Hence we can suppose that r - 1 < m'. It follows from the choice of r that $u_r \neq u'_r$. It follows from the four point inequality that

$$\min\{(t, wp)_q, (wp, w'p)_q, (w'p, t')_q\} \leq (t, t')_q + 2\delta.$$

Since U is α -reduced at p,

$$(t,t')_q = (u_r p, u'_r p)_q < \frac{1}{2} \min\{|u_r p - p|, |u'_r p - p|\} - \alpha - 2\delta.$$

Consequently,

(3.4)
$$\min\{(t,wp)_q,(wp,w'p)_q,(w'p,t')_q\} < \frac{1}{2}\min\{|u_rp-p|,|u'_rp-p|\} - \alpha.$$

We must prove that the minimum of Equation 3.4 is attained by $(wp, w'p)_q$. In order to do so, let's see first that the minimum of Equation 3.4 is not achieved by $(t, wp)_q$. Using the definition of Gromov product,

$$(t, wp)_q = |q - t| - (q, wp)_t$$

By definition,

$$|q-t| = |u_r p - p|$$

Recall that $m - r + 1 \ge 1$. If m - r + 1 = 1, we have

$$(q, wp)_t = (u_r^{-1}p, p)_p = 0.$$

If $m - r + 1 \ge 2$, applying Lemma 3.3 (ii) and Proposition 3.4 (i) to the sequence of m - r + 2 points

$$q = u_1 \cdots u_{r-1}p, \quad t = u_1 \cdots u_r p, \quad u_1 \cdots u_{r+1}p, \quad \cdots, \quad wp = u_1 \cdots u_m p,$$

we obtain

$$(q, wp)_t \leq (q, u_1 \cdots u_{r+1}p)_t + 2\delta.$$

Since U is α -reduced,

$$(q, u_1 \cdots u_{r+1}p)_t = (u_r^{-1}p, u_{r+1}p)_p < \frac{1}{2}|u_rp - p| - \alpha - 2\delta.$$



Consequently,

$$(t,wp)_q \ge \frac{1}{2}|u_rp - p| > \frac{1}{2}|u_rp - p| - \alpha.$$

Thus, the minimum of Equation 3.4 cannot be achieved by $(t, wp)_q$. Similarly, it cannot be achieved by $(w'p, t')_q$. Therefore, the only possibility is that it is achieved by $(wp, w'p)_q$. This proves our claim.

Finally, combining Equation 3.2 and Equation 3.3 with our three claims, we obtain

$$(p, w'p)_{wp} \ge \min\{(p, q)_{wp}, (q, w'p)_{wp}\} - \delta > \frac{1}{2}|u_m p - p| - \delta.$$

4. Growth in groups acting on a δ -hyperbolic space

In this section, we review and adapt some of the techniques of M. Koubi. [31] – further developed by G. Arzhantseva and I. Lysenok, [4]. These techniques permit to study exponential growth rates of finite symmetric subsets in groups acting by isometries on hyperbolic spaces in the sense of M. Gromov. In particular, we clarify what are the involved parameters for acylindrical actions, which permits to obtain Theorem 4.8.

4.1. Growth of maximal loxodromic subgroups.

Let G be a group acting acylindrically on a hyperbolic space X. The goal of this subsection is to prove that the maximal loxodromic subgroups of G have some sort of uniform linear growth. We adapt an argument that was written for hyperbolic groups in [3, p. 484]. Recall that $\Phi(G, X)$ stands by the loxodromic wideness of the action of G on X (Definition 2.20). Given a loxodromic element $g \in G$, we denoted by $||g||^{\infty}$ its stable translation length (subsection 2.3) and by E(g) the maximal loxodromic subgroup of G containing g (subsection 2.4).

PROPOSITION 4.1. — Let G be a group acting acylindrically on a hyperbolic space X. Let $U \subset G$ be a finite symmetric subset containing the identity. Let $g \in G$ be a primitive loxodromic element. Then, for every $n \ge 1$,

$$|U^n \cap E(g)| \leqslant 2\Phi(G, X) \left(\frac{\mathcal{L}(U)}{\|g\|^{\infty}} 4n + 1\right).$$

First, we focus on the case of the cyclic group generated by a loxodromic isometry.

LEMMA 4.2. — Let G be a group acting acylindrically on a hyperbolic space X. Let $U \subset G$ be a finite symmetric subset containing the identity. Let $g \in G$ be a loxodromic element. Then, for every $n \ge 1$,

$$|U^n \cap \langle g \rangle| \leqslant \frac{\mathcal{L}(U)}{\|g\|^{\infty}} 2n + 1.$$



Proof. — Let $n \ge 1$. We have,

$$|U^n \cap \langle g \rangle| = |\{ k \in \mathbf{Z} : g^k \in U^n \}|.$$

Since the subset U is symmetric,

$$|\{k \in \mathbf{Z} : g^k \in U^n\}| \leq 2|\{k \in \mathbf{N} - \{0\} : g^k \in U^n\}| + 1.$$

Let $k \ge 1$ such that $g^k \in U^n$. Since the element g is loxodromic, we have $||g||^{\infty} > 0$. Observe that

$$k = \frac{\|g^k\|^\infty}{\|g\|^\infty}.$$

Let $x \in X$. Then

$$||g^k||^{\infty} \leq ||g^k|| \leq |g^k x - x| \leq \max_{h \in U^n} |hx - x| = \mathcal{L}(U^n, x).$$

Since the point x is arbitrary, we get $||g^k||^{\infty} \leq L(U^n)$. By the triangle inequality, $L(U^n) \leq n L(U)$. Hence,

$$k \leqslant \frac{\mathcal{L}(U)}{\|g\|^{\infty}} n.$$

Therefore,

$$|U^n \cap \langle g \rangle| \leq \frac{\mathcal{L}(U)}{\|g\|^{\infty}} 2n + 1$$

We are ready for the proof of the proposition.

Proof of Proposition 4.1. — Let F(g) be the set of all elements of finite order of $E^+(g)$. Recall that F(g) is a normal subgroup of $E^+(g)$. Since the action of G on X is acylindrical and E(g) is a loxodromic subgroup of G, there exists a loxodromic element $h \in E^+(g)$ such that the map

$$F(g) \rtimes_{\phi} \langle h \rangle \to E^+(g), (f,k) \mapsto fk$$

is a group isomorphism, where $\phi: \langle h \rangle \to \operatorname{Aut}(F(g))$ is the action by conjugacy of $\langle h \rangle$ on F(g) (Corollary 2.18). Let $n \ge 1$. Let E_0 be a set of representatives of $E(g)/\langle h \rangle$. We have

$$|U^n \cap E(g)| = \sum_{r \in E_0} |U^n \cap r \langle h \rangle |.$$

First we are going to estimate $|E_0|$. By definition, $[E(g): E^+(g)] \leq 2$. Since the homomorphism

$$\langle h \rangle \to F(g) \rtimes_{\phi} \langle h \rangle, k \mapsto (1,k)$$

is a split of the exact sequence,

 $0 \longrightarrow F(g) \stackrel{\iota}{\longrightarrow} F(g) \rtimes_{\phi} \langle h \rangle \stackrel{\pi}{\longrightarrow} \langle h \rangle \longrightarrow 0$



we have $[E^+(g): \langle h \rangle] = |F(g)| \leq \Phi(G, X)$. Consequently,

$$|E_0| \leqslant 2\Phi(G, X)$$

Since the action of G on X is acylindrical, we have $\Phi(G, X) < \infty$ (Lemma 2.21).

Now we are going to estimate $|U^n \cap r\langle h \rangle|$ for $r \in E_0$. We may assume that $U^n \cap r\langle h \rangle$ is non-empty. Then there exist $s \in U^n \cap r\langle h \rangle$. In particular $r\langle h \rangle = s\langle h \rangle$. Hence,

$$|U^n \cap r \langle h \rangle| = |U^n \cap s \langle h \rangle| = |s(s^{-1}U^n \cap \langle h \rangle)| = |s^{-1}U^n \cap \langle h \rangle|.$$

Since U is symmetric, $s^{-1} \in U^n$. Since U contains the identity, $s^{-1}U^n \subset U^{2n}$. Therefore,

$$|s^{-1}U^n \cap \langle h \rangle| \leq |U^{2n} \cap \langle h \rangle|$$

According to Lemma 4.2,

$$|U^{2n} \cap \langle h \rangle| \leq \frac{\mathcal{L}(U)}{\|h\|^{\infty}} 4n + 1.$$

Consequently,

$$|U^n \cap r \langle h \rangle| \leqslant \frac{\mathcal{L}(U)}{\|h\|^{\infty}} 4n + 1.$$

Finally, since the element g is primitive, we have that $g \in \{h, h^{-1}\}$. It follows from our two estimations above that

$$|U^n \cap E(g)| \leq 2\Phi(G, X) \left(\frac{\mathcal{L}(U)}{\|g\|^{\infty}} 4n + 1\right).$$

Given a subset $U \subset G$ and a loxodromic element $g \in G$, we fix a set of representatives U(g) of the equivalence relation induced on U by \sim_g . Recall that the equivalence relation \sim_g on G was previously defined by $u \sim_g v$ if and only if $u^{-1}v \in E(g)$, for every $u, v \in G$ (subsection 2.4). The reason that makes the set U(g) of interest is that the set of conjugates of g by the elements of U(g) is a set of "independent" loxodromic elements and has the same size as U(g). We obtain the following.

COROLLARY 4.3. — Let G be a group acting acylindrically on a hyperbolic space X. Let $U \subset G$ be a finite symmetric subset containing the identity. Let $g \in G$ be a primitive loxodromic element. Let

$$a_0 = 2\Phi(G, X) \left(\frac{\mathcal{L}(U)}{\|g\|^{\infty}} 8 + 1 \right).$$

Then,

$$|U(g)| \geqslant \frac{1}{a_0}|U|.$$

Proof. — Consider the surjective map $U \to U(g)$ that sends every element of U to its class representative in U(g). We are going to estimate its injectivity. Let $u, v \in U$ such

that $u \sim_g v$. By definition, $u^{-1}v \in E(g)$. Since the subset U is symmetric, $u^{-1}v \in U^2$. Therefore, $v \in u(U^2 \cap E(g))$. Note that $|u(U^2 \cap E(g))| = |U^2 \cap E(g)|$. Consequently, each $u \in U(g)$ has at most $|U^2 \cap E(g)|$ elements in its equivalence class. According to Proposition 4.1, $|U^2 \cap E(g)| \leq a_0$. Therefore,

$$|U(g)| \geqslant \frac{1}{a_0}|U|.$$

4.2. Producing reduced subsets

Recall that given a loxodromic element $g \in G$, we denoted by $\Delta(g)$ its fellow travelling constant (subsection 2.4). The goal of this subsection is to produce a reduced subset using the conjugates of a loxodromic isometry of large stable translation length. More precisely, we will prove the following.

PROPOSITION 4.4. — Let $\delta > 0$ and $\alpha > 0$. Let G be a group acting acylindrically on a δ -hyperbolic space X. Let $U \subset G$ be a finite symmetric subset containing a loxodromic element $g \in U$ such that $||g||^{\infty} > 10^{3}\delta$. Let $p \in X$. Let

$$b_0 = \frac{200}{\|g\|^{\infty}} [\Delta(g) + \mathcal{L}(U, p) + \delta + \alpha].$$

Then for every $b \ge b_0$, the set $S = \{ ug^b u^{-1} : u \in U(g) \}$ satisfies the following:

- (i) $S \subset U^{b+2}$.
- (ii) |S| = |U(g)|.
- (iii) S is α -reduced at p.

Proof. — The conclusions (i) and (ii) are immediate. We are going to prove (iii) S is α -reduced at p (Definition 3.1). By construction, $S \cap S^{-1} = \emptyset$. Let $i \in [\![1,2]\!]$. Let $u_i \in U$. Let $\varepsilon_i \in \{-1,1\}$. Assume that the elements $u_1g^{\varepsilon_1b}u_1^{-1}$ and $u_2g^{\varepsilon_2b}u_2^{-1}$ are distinct.

<u>Case $u_1 = u_2$ </u>. Since the elements $u_1 g^{\varepsilon_1 b} u_1^{-1}$ and $u_2 g^{\varepsilon_2 b} u_2^{-1}$ are distinct, we have $\varepsilon_1 = -\varepsilon_2$. Denote $h = u_1 g^{\varepsilon_1 b} u_1^{-1}$. It is enough to prove that

$$(hp, h^{-1}p)_p \leqslant \frac{b}{2} \|g\|^{\infty} - \alpha - 2\delta$$

Let η^- and η^+ be the points of ∂X fixed by $\langle h \rangle$ and $\gamma \colon \mathbf{R} \to X$ be an $\langle h \rangle$ -invariant $10^3 \delta$ local $(1, \delta)$ -quasi-geodesic joining η^- to η^+ . This choice is possible since $||g||^{\infty} > 10^3 \delta$. It follows from Lemma 2.15 applied to γ that

$$(hp, h^{-1}p)_p \leq \mathcal{L}(U, p) + 6\delta$$



It is clear that

4

$$L(U,p) + 6\delta \leq \frac{b}{2} ||g||^{\infty} - \alpha - 2\delta.$$

<u>Case $u_1 \neq u_2$ </u>. In particular $u_1 \not\sim_g u_2$, which means that $u_1^{-1}u_2$ does not belong to E(g).

Claim 4.5. — $d(p, A_g) \leq \frac{1}{2} L(U, p) + 5\delta$.

Proof. — It follows from Lemma 2.9 that

$$d(p, A_g) \leqslant \frac{1}{2}|gp - p| + 5\delta.$$

Moreover, since $g \in U$, we have $|gp - p| \leq L(U, p)$. This proves our claim.

Consider the points $x_i = u_i p$ and $y_i = u_i g^{\varepsilon_i b} p$. **CLAIM 4.6.** — diam $([x_1, y_1]^{+8\delta} \cap [x_2, y_2]^{+8\delta}) \leq \Delta(g) + L(U, p) + 44\delta$. *Proof.* — Denote $\sigma = d(p, A_g) + 10\delta$. We have,

$$\max\left\{d(x_i, u_i A_g), d(y_i, u_i A_g)\right\} \leqslant \sigma.$$

Recall that the axis A_g is 10 δ -quasi-convex (Lemma 2.9). Hence, since $\sigma \ge 10\delta$, the subset $u_i A_g^{+\sigma}$ is 2 δ -quasi-convex (Lemma 2.7). Consequently,

$$[x_i, y_i] \subset u_i A_q^{+\sigma + 2\delta}.$$

Therefore,

diam
$$([x_1, y_1]^{+8\delta} \cap [x_2, y_2]^{+8\delta}) \leq \text{diam}(u_1 A_g^{+\sigma+10\delta} \cap u_2 A_g^{+\sigma+10\delta}).$$

According to Lemma 2.8,

$$\operatorname{diam}(u_1 A_g^{+\sigma+10\delta} \cap u_2 A_g^{+\sigma+10\delta}) \leq \operatorname{diam}(u_1 A_g^{+13\delta} \cap u_2 A_g^{+13\delta}) + 2(\sigma+10\delta) + 4\delta.$$

Moreover,

$$\operatorname{diam}(u_1 A_g^{+13\delta} \cap u_2 A_g^{+13\delta}) \leqslant \operatorname{diam}(u_1 A_g^{+20\delta} \cap u_2 A_g^{+20\delta}).$$

Since $u_1^{-1}u_2$ does not belong to E(g),

diam
$$(u_1 A_g^{+20\delta} \cap u_2 A_g^{+20\delta}) \leq \Delta(g).$$

Since the action of G on X is acylindrical, we have $\Delta(g) < \infty$ (Lemma 2.16). Combining the above estimations with the previous claim, we obtain

diam
$$([x_1, y_1]^{+8\delta} \cap [x_2, y_2]^{+8\delta}) \leq \Delta(g) + L(U, p) + 54\delta.$$



This proves our claim.

Denote
$$s_i = u_i g^{\varepsilon_i b} u_i^{-1}$$
.

 $\label{eq:claim 4.7.} {\bf Claim 4.7.} \quad (s_1p,s_2p)_p \leqslant \Delta(g) + 5\, {\rm L}(U,p) + 54\delta.$

Proof. — By definition,

$$(s_1p, s_2p)_p = \frac{1}{2}(|s_1p - p| + |s_2p - p| - |s_1p - s_2p|).$$

By the triangle inequality,

$$|s_i p - p| \le |x_i - y_i| + 2|u_i p - p|,$$

$$|s_1 p - s_2 p| \ge |y_1 - y_2| - |u_1 p - p| - |u_2 p - p|$$

Consequently,

$$(s_1p, s_2p)_p \leq \frac{1}{2}(|x_1 - y_1| + |x_2 - y_2| - |y_1 - y_2|) + \frac{3}{2}(|u_1p - p| + |u_2p - p|).$$

Combining the previous claim with Lemma 2.4, we obtain

$$|x_1 - y_1| + |x_2 - y_2| - |y_1 - y_2| \leq |x_1 - x_2| + 2(\Delta(g) + L(U, p) + 44\delta).$$

By the triangle inequality,

$$|x_1 - x_2| \le |u_1 p - p| + |u_2 p - p|.$$

Moreover, since $u_i \in U$, we have $|u_i p - p| \leq L(U, p)$. Combining the above estimations, we obtain

$$(s_1p, s_2p)_p \leq \Delta(g) + 5 \operatorname{L}(U, p) + 44\delta.$$

This proves our claim.

Finally, note that

$$\frac{1}{2}\min\left\{|s_1p-p|, |s_2p-p|\right\} - \alpha - 2\delta \ge \frac{b}{2} \|g\|^{\infty} - \alpha - 2\delta.$$

Since $b \ge b_0$, we obtain

$$\frac{b}{2} \|g\|^{\infty} - \alpha - 2\delta > \Delta(g) + 5\operatorname{L}(U, p) + 54\delta.$$

Therefore, the previous claim implies that

$$(s_1p, s_2p)_p < \frac{1}{2} \min\{|s_1p - p|, |s_2p - p|\} - \alpha - 2\delta.$$

\bigcirc	
$((\bigcirc))$	

4.3. Growth trichotomy

We are going to combine the two previous subsections in the following result.

THEOREM 4.8 (Theorem 1.10). — For every $\kappa > 0$ and N > 0, there exist an integer c > 1 with the following property. Let $\delta > 0$ and $\alpha > 0$. Let G be a group acting (κ, N) -acylindrically on a δ -hyperbolic space X. Let $U \subset G$ be a finite symmetric subset containing the identity. Let $p \in X$ be a point almost-minimizing the ℓ^{∞} -energy L(U). Then one of the following conditions holds:

- (T1) $L(U) \leq 10^4 \max{\{\kappa, \delta, \alpha\}}.$
- (T2) The subgroup $\langle U \rangle$ is virtually cyclic and contains a loxodromic element.
- (T3) There exist a finite subset $S \subset G$ with the following properties:
 - (i) $S \subset U^c$,
 - (*ii*) $|S| \ge \max\left\{2, \frac{1}{c}|U|\right\},$
 - (iii) S is α -reduced at p.

Moreover, $\omega(U) \ge \frac{1}{c} \log |U|$.

Proof. — Let $\kappa > 0$ and N > 0. Let n_0 be the positive integer of Lemma 2.19 depending on κ and N. We fix auxiliar parameters

$$a_1 = 200Nn_0$$
, and $b_1 = 200(N+2) + 500n_0 + 700$.

We put

$$c \ge \max\left\{a_1, n_0(b_1+2), \frac{2n_0(b_1+2)\log a_1}{\log 2}\right\}$$

Let $\delta > 0$ and $\alpha > 0$. Let G be a group acting (κ, N) -acylindrically on a δ -hyperbolic space X. Let $U \subset G$ be a finite symmetric subset containing the identity. Let $p \in X$ be a point almost-minimizing the ℓ^{∞} -energy L(U). Assume that $L(U) > 10^4 \max \{\kappa, \delta, \alpha\}$. Since $L(U) > 50\delta$, according to Lemma 2.19 there exist a primitive loxodromic element $g \in U^{n_0}$ such that

(4.1)
$$||g||^{\infty} \ge \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{L}(U).$$

In particular $||g||^{\infty} \ge 10^3 \delta$. Let $H = \langle U \rangle$. Note that the loxodromic g belongs to H. Assume in addition that the subgroup H is not virtually cyclic. We prove (T3). We are going to apply Corollary 4.3 and Proposition 4.4 to U^{n_0} and g. Let

$$a_0 = 2\Phi(G, X) \left(\frac{\mathcal{L}(U^{n_0})}{\|g\|^{\infty}} 8 + 1 \right), \quad b_0 = \frac{200}{\|g\|^{\infty}} [\Delta(g) + \mathcal{L}(U^{n_0}, p) + \delta + \alpha].$$

By the triangle inequality,

$$\mathcal{L}(U^{n_0}) \leq n_0 \mathcal{L}(U), \text{ and } \mathcal{L}(U^{n_0}, p) \leq n_0 \mathcal{L}(U, p).$$

Since the point $p \in X$ is almost-minimizing the ℓ^{∞} -energy L(U), we have $L(U,p) \leq L(U) + \delta$. Since the action of G on X is (κ, N) -acylindrical, it follows from Lemma 2.21 and Lemma 2.16 that

$$\Phi(G, X) \leq N$$
, and $\Delta(g) \leq \kappa + (N+2) \|g\|^{\infty} + 100\delta$.

Using the hypothesis $L(U) > 10^4 \max{\{\kappa, \delta, \alpha\}}$ and Equation 4.1, we obtain,

$$\max\left\{\frac{\mathcal{L}(U)}{\|g\|^{\infty}}, \frac{\kappa}{\|g\|^{\infty}}, \frac{\delta}{\|g\|^{\infty}}, \frac{\alpha}{\|g\|^{\infty}}\right\} \leqslant 2.$$

Consequently, we obtain $a_0 \leq a_1$ and $b_0 \leq b_1$. Let $S = \{ ug^{b_1}u^{-1} : u \in U^{n_0}(g) \}.$

The points (i) and (iii) follow from Proposition 4.4 (i) and (iii).

We are going to prove (ii). According to Proposition 4.4 (ii), we have $|S| = |U^{n_0}(g)|$. If $|U^{n_0}(g)| = 1$, then $u \sim_g g$, for every $u \in U^{n_0}$. Hence U^{n_0} is contained in E(g). Since U contains the identity, $U \subset U^{n_0}$. Thus H is virtually cyclic (Lemma 2.17). Contradiction. Hence $|U^{n_0}(g)| \ge 2$. Further, it follows from Proposition 4.1 that $|U^{n_0}(g)| \ge \frac{1}{a_1}|U^{n_0}|$. Since U contains the identity, $|U^{n_0}| \ge |U|$. Therefore,

$$|S| \ge \max\bigg\{2, \frac{1}{a_1}|U|\bigg\}.$$

This implies our point (ii).

Let's verify the last conclusion about $\omega(U)$. Let $n \ge 1$. We have

$$|U^{n_0(b_1+2)n}| \ge |S^n| \ge |S|^n \ge \max\left\{2^n, \left(\frac{1}{a_1}|U|\right)^n\right\},\$$

where the first inequality follows from (i); the second from (iii), which implies that the natural homomorphism $\mathbf{F}(S) \to G$ is injective (Proposition 5.16); and the third from (ii). Consequently,

$$\omega(U) = \limsup_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n_0(b_1 + 2)n} \log |U^{n_0(b_1 + 2)n}| \ge \frac{1}{n_0(b_1 + 2)} \max\left\{\log 2, \log\left(\frac{1}{a_1}|U|\right)\right\}.$$

Finally, note that

$$\frac{1}{a_1}|U| \ge |U|^{\frac{1}{2}} \Leftrightarrow \log|U| \ge 2\log a_1.$$

If $\log |U| \ge 2 \log a_1$, we obtain

$$\omega(U) \ge \frac{1}{n_0(b_1+2)} \log\left(\frac{1}{a_1}|U|\right) \ge \frac{1}{2n_0(b_1+2)} \log|U|.$$



If $\log |U| < 2 \log a_1$, we obtain

$$\omega(U) \ge \frac{1}{n_0(b_1+2)} \log 2 \ge \frac{\log 2}{2n_0(b_1+2)\log a_1} \log |U|.$$

5. Shortening and shortening-free words

In the context of classical small cancellation theory, *Greendlinger's Lemma* states that if a word over the free generating set of a free group represents the identity element in a small cancellation quotient, then it should contain a subword corresponding to a large portion of a relator. This section is structured as follows. First, we are going to formalise the notion of "large portion of a relator" with the definition of shortening word in the context of actions by isometries on hyperbolic spaces. Then, we are going to find a lower bound for the number of shortening-free words of free subgroups generated by reduced subsets of low energy. Finally, we will see that these shortening-free words embedd in geometric small cancellation quotients of appropriate parameters after using a suitable version of Greendlinger's Lemma (Lemma 2.33).

Global parameters and hypothesis for this section. Let δ_0 and Δ_0 be the constants of the Small Cancellation Theorem (Lemma 2.27). We fix once for all during this section

$$L_0 > 0$$
, and $\tau_0 = 10^6 (\delta_0 + L_0 + \Delta_0)$.

Let

$$0 < \delta \leq \delta_0, \quad \alpha \geq 200\delta_0, \quad \text{and} \quad \tau \geq \tau_0.$$

Let G be a group acting by isometries on a δ -hyperbolic space X. Let $U \subset G$ be an α -reduced subset at $p \in X$ (Definition 3.1). Let \mathscr{Q} be a loxodromic moving family (Definition 2.24). We assume that

$$0 < L(U, p) \leq L_0$$
, and $\Delta(\mathscr{Q}, X) \leq \Delta_0$.

5.1. Shortening words

Here we study shortening words. Part of this subsection is based on [19, Section 3.1].

DEFINITION 5.1 (Shortening word). — Let $w \equiv u_1 \cdots u_n$ be an element of $\mathbf{F}(U)$. Let $(H, Y) \in \mathcal{Q}$. We say that w is a τ -shortening word over (H, Y) if it satisfies the following. Consider the points $x_0 = p$ and $x_n = wp$. Let y_0 and y_n be respective projections of x_0 and x_n on Y. Then,

(S1)
$$|y_0 - y_n| > \tau$$
.

(S2) $|x_0 - y_0| < \frac{1}{2}|u_1p - p| - 100\delta$, and $|x_n - y_n| < \frac{1}{2}|u_np - p| - 100\delta$.

A minimal τ -shortening word over (H, Y) is a τ -shortening word over (H, Y) none of whose proper prefixes are τ -shortening words over (H, Y).

Remark 5.2. — Applying the triangle inequality, we observe that the choice $\tau \ge \tau_0$ implies that τ -shortening words over (H, Y) are distinct form the identity:

$$|x_0 - x_n| \ge |y_0 - y_n| - |x_0 - y_0| - |x_n - y_n| > 0.$$

PROPOSITION 5.3. — Let $w \equiv u_1 \cdots u_n$ be a τ -shortening word over $(H, Y) \in \mathcal{Q}$. Consider the sequence of n + 1 points

$$x_0 = p, \quad x_1 = u_1 p, \quad x_2 = u_1 u_2 p, \quad \cdots, \quad x_n = u_1 \cdots u_n p.$$

Let y_i be a projection of x_i on Y, for every $i \in [0, n]$. Then,

$$|x_i - y_i| < \frac{1}{2} \min\{|u_i p - p|, |u_{i+1} p - p|\} - 100\delta$$

for every $i \in [\![1, n-1]\!]$.

Proof. — Let $i \in [\![1, n-1]\!]$. Let z_i be a projection of x_i on $[y_0, y_n]$. Since Y is 10 δ -quasiconvex (Lemma 2.14), there exist $z'_i \in Y$ such that $|z_i - z'_i| \leq 11\delta$. By definition,

$$|x_i - y_i| \leq d(x_i, Y) + \delta \leq |x_i - z_i'| + \delta$$

By the triangle inequality,

$$|x_i - z'_i| \leq |x_i - z_i| + |z_i - z'_i|$$

By definition, $|x_i - z_i| \leq d(x_i, [y_0, y_n]) + \delta$. According to Lemma 2.3,

$$d(x_i, [y_0, y_n]) \leqslant (y_0, y_n)_{x_i} + 4\delta.$$

We claim that $(y_0, y_n)_{x_i} \leq (x_0, x_n)_{x_i} + 2\delta$. It follows from the four point inequality that

$$\min\{(x_0, y_0)_{x_i}, (y_0, y_n)_{x_i}, (y_n, x_n)_{x_i}\} \leq (x_0, x_n)_{x_i} + 2\delta.$$

One can argue using the Broken Geodesic Lemma (Lemma 3.3) and the fact that w is a τ -shortening to prove that the minimum must be attained by $(y_0, y_n)_{x_i}$. Now applying the Broken Geodesic Lemma (Lemma 3.3 (ii)),

$$(x_0, x_n)_{x_i} \leq (x_{i-1}, x_{i+1})_{x_i} + 2\delta$$

Moreover, $(x_{i-1}, x_{i+1})_{x_i} = (u_i^{-1}p, u_{i+1}p)_p$. Since the subset U is α -reduced and $\alpha \ge 200\delta$,

$$(u_i^{-1}p, u_{i+1}p)_p < \frac{1}{2}\min\{|u_ip - p|, |u_{i+1}p - p|\} - 118\delta.$$

Combining all the estimations, we obtain

$$|x_i - y_i| < \frac{1}{2} \min\{|u_i p - p|, |u_{i+1} p - p|\} - 100\delta.$$

PROPOSITION 5.4. — Let $w \equiv u_1 \cdots u_n$ be a τ -shortening word over $(H, Y) \in \mathcal{Q}$. The following holds.

(i) We have

$$|w|_U \ge \frac{\tau - 50\delta}{\mathcal{L}(U, p)}.$$

(ii) If w is a minimal τ -shortening word over (H, Y), then

$$|w|_U \leqslant \frac{\tau}{\alpha} + 2.$$

Proof. — Consider the sequence of n + 1 points

$$x_0 = p, \quad x_1 = u_1 p, \quad x_2 = u_1 u_2 p, \quad \cdots, \quad x_n = u_1 \cdots u_n p.$$

Let y_i be a projection of x_i on Y, for every $i \in [0, n]$.

(i) Since L(U, p) > 0 and w is distinct from the identity (Remark 5.2), it follows from the triangle inequality that,

$$|w|_U \ge \frac{|x_0 - x_n|}{\mathcal{L}(U, p)}.$$

According to (S1), we have $|y_0 - y_n| > \tau$. Since Y is 10 δ -quasi-convex (Lemma 2.14) and $\tau \ge 23\delta$, the strong contraction property of Y (Lemma 2.6) implies

$$|x_0 - x_n| \ge |x_0 - y_0| + |y_0 - y_n| + |y_n - x_n| - 46\delta.$$

Consequently, $|x_0 - x_n| > \tau - 50\delta$. Therefore,

$$|w|_U \geqslant \frac{\tau - 50\delta}{\mathcal{L}(U, p)}.$$

(ii) Assume that w is a minimal τ -shortening word over (H, Y). Let $w' \equiv u_1 \cdots u_{n-1}$. By definition,

$$|w|_U = |w'|_U + 1.$$

In view of Proposition 3.4 (ii), we deduce

$$|w'p - p| \ge \frac{1}{2}|u_1p - p| + \frac{1}{2}|u_{n-1}p - p| + \alpha(|w'|_U - 1).$$



By the triangle inequality,

$$|w'p - p| \leq |x_{n-1} - y_{n-1}| + |y_{n-1} - y_0| + |y_0 - x_0|.$$

Since w is a τ -shortening word over (H, Y), the property (S2) implies

$$|x_0 - y_0| < \frac{1}{2}|u_1 p - p| - 100\delta.$$

According to Proposition 5.3,

$$|x_{n-1} - y_{n-1}| < \frac{1}{2}|u_{n-1}p - p| - 100\delta.$$

Therefore, since w' is not a τ -shortening over (H, Y), we have $|y_{n-1} - y_0| \leq \tau$. Consequently, $|w'|_U \leq \frac{\tau}{\alpha} + 1$. Thus, $|w|_U \leq \frac{\tau}{\alpha} + 2$.

PROPOSITION 5.5. Let (H_1, Y_1) , $(H_2, Y_2) \in \mathcal{Q}$. Let $w \in \mathbf{F}(U)$. If w is a τ -shortening word over both (H_1, Y_1) and (H_2, Y_2) , then $(H_1, Y_1) = (H_2, Y_2)$.

Proof. — Assume that w is a τ -shortening word over (H_1, Y_1) and (H_2, Y_2) . In order to prove that $(H_1, Y_1) = (H_2, Y_2)$, it is enough to show that $\operatorname{diam}(Y_1^{+20\delta} \cap Y_2^{+20\delta}) > \Delta(\mathcal{Q}, X)$. Since the subsets Y_1 and Y_2 are 10 δ -quasi-convex (Lemma 2.14), it follows from Lemma 2.8 that

$$\operatorname{diam}(Y_1^{+20\delta} \cap Y_2^{+20\delta}) \ge \operatorname{diam}(Y_1^{+13\delta} \cap Y_2^{+13\delta}) \ge \operatorname{diam}(Y_1^{+2L_0} \cap Y_2^{+2L_0}) - 4L_0 - 4\delta_0.$$

Let $i \in [1, 2]$. Let x_i and z_i be respective projections of p and wp on Y_i . We claim that $x_1, z_1 \in Y_1^{+2L_0} \cap Y_2^{+2L_0}$. Since w is a shortening word over (H_i, Y_i) , it follows from (S2) that

 $\max\{|p - x_i|, |wp - z_i|\} \leq L_0.$

According to the triangle inequality,

 $|x_1 - x_2| \leq |x_1 - p| + |p - x_2|, \quad |z_1 - z_2| \leq |z_1 - p| + |p - z_2|.$

Consequently,

$$\max\{|x_1 - x_2|, |z_1 - z_2|\} \leq 2L_0.$$

Therefore, $x_1, z_1 \in Y_2^{+2L_0}$. This proves the claim. Thus,

$$\operatorname{diam}(Y_1^{+2L_0} \cap Y_2^{+2L_0}) \ge |x_1 - z_1|$$

Since w is a shortening over (H_1, Y_1) , it follows from (S1) that $|x_1 - z_1| > \tau$. Finally, since $\tau \ge \tau_0$, we obtain that $\operatorname{diam}(Y_1^{+20\delta} \cap Y_2^{+20\delta}) > \Delta(\mathscr{Q}, X)$.





Figure 3: Scheme for the proof of Proposition 5.5.

PROPOSITION 5.6. — For every $(H, Y) \in \mathcal{Q}$, there exist at most two minimal τ -shortening words over (H, Y).

Proof. — Let $(H, Y) \in \mathcal{Q}$. Let η^- and η^+ be the points of ∂X fixed by H and $\gamma \colon \mathbf{R} \to X$ be an $10^3\delta$ -local $(1, \delta)$ -quasi-geodesic joining η^- to η^+ . Let q be a projection of p on γ . Without loss of generality, we may assume that $q = \gamma(0)$. Let $\mathscr{S}_{(H,Y)}$ denote the set of elements in $\mathbf{F}(U)$ that are τ -shortening words over (H, Y). Assume that $\mathscr{S}_{(H,Y)}$ is non-empty, otherwise the statement is true. We decompose $\mathscr{S}_{(H,Y)}$ in two sets as follows: an element $w \in \mathscr{S}_{(H,Y)}$ belongs to $\mathscr{S}_{(H,Y)}^+$ (respectively, $\mathscr{S}_{(H,Y)}^-$) if there is a projection $\gamma(t)$ of wp on γ with $t \ge 0$ (respectively, $t \le 0$). Observe that a priori the sets $\mathscr{S}_{(H,Y)}^$ and $\mathscr{S}_{(H,Y)}^+$ are not disjoint, but that will not be an issue for the rest of the proof.

Let $w_1, w_2 \in \mathscr{S}^+_{(H,Y)}$. Let $q_1 = \gamma(t_1)$ and $q_2 = \gamma(t_2)$ be the respective projections of w_1p and w_2p on γ . Without loss of generality, we may assume that $0 \leq t_1 \leq t_2$.

CLAIM 5.7. — The word w_1 is a prefix of w_2 .

Proof. — We are going to apply the Geodesic Extension Property (Proposition 3.6). By the triangle inequality,

(5.1)
$$(p, w_2 p)_{w_1 p} \leq |w_1 p - q_1| + (w_2 p, p)_{q_1}.$$

Assume that $w_1 \equiv u_1 \cdots u_m$.

(a) Let's estimate $|w_1p - q_1|$. By definition, the *H*-invariant cylinder *Y* is contained in the 20 δ -neighbourhood of γ . Consequently,

$$|w_1p - q_1| = d(w_1p, \gamma) \leq d(w_1p, Y) + 20\delta.$$



Since w_1 is a τ -shortening word over (H, Y), the property (S2) implies

$$d(w_1 p, Y) < \frac{1}{2}|u_m p - p| - 100\delta$$

Therefore,

(5.2)
$$|w_1p - q_1| < \frac{1}{2}|u_mp - p| - 80\delta.$$

(b) Let's estimate $(w_2p, p)_{q_1}$. By definition,

$$(w_2p, p)_{q_1} = \frac{1}{2}(|w_2p - q_1| + |p - q_1| - |w_2p - p|).$$

Since w_2 is a τ -shortening word over (H, Y), the property (S1) implies

$$|q_2 - q| > \tau.$$

Since Y is 10 δ -quasi-convex (Lemma 2.14) and $\tau \ge 23\delta$, the strong contraction property of Y (Lemma 2.6) implies

$$|w_2p - p| \ge |w_2p - q_2| + |q_2 - q| + |q - p| - 46\delta$$

Again by definition,

$$|q_2 - q| = |q_2 - q_1| + |q_1 - q| - 2(q_2, q)_{q_1}$$

According to Lemma 2.15 (i),

$$(q_2, q)_{q_1} \leqslant 6\delta.$$

Note that here we have used the assumption $0 \leq t_1 \leq t_2$. By the triangle inequality,

$$|w_2p - q_1| \leq |w_2p - q_2| + |q_2 - q_1|.$$

Therefore,

$$|w_2p - p| \ge |w_2p - q_1| + |q_1 - p| - 58\delta.$$

Consequently,

$$(5.3) (w_2p,p)_{q_1} \leqslant 29\delta.$$

Finally, combining Equation 5.1, Equation 5.2 and Equation 5.3, we obtain

$$(p, w_2 p)_{w_1 p} \leq \frac{1}{2} |u_m p - p| - \delta.$$

Therefore, the Geodesic Extension Property (Proposition 3.6) implies that w_1 is a prefix of w_2 . This proves our claim.

If w_1 is not a proper prefix of w_2 , then the claim above implies that $w_1 = w_2$. Therefore $\mathscr{S}^+_{(H,Y)}$ has at most one element satisfying the statement of the proposition. By symmetry, $\mathscr{S}^-_{(H,Y)}$ has at most one element satisfying the statement. Therefore $\mathscr{S}_{(H,Y)}$ has at most two elements satisfying the statement.



Figure 4: Scheme for the proof of Proposition 5.6.

5.2. The growth of shortening-free words

Here we count shortening-free words. The counting is based on [19, Section 3.22].

DEFINITION 5.8 (Shortening-free word). — Let $w \equiv u_1 \cdots u_n$ be an element of $\mathbf{F}(U)$. Let $(H,Y) \in \mathcal{Q}$. We say that w contains a τ -shortening word over (H,Y) if w splits as $w \equiv w_0 w_1 w_2$, where w_1 is a τ -shortening word over (H,Y). We say that w is a τ -shortening-free word if for every $(H,Y) \in \mathcal{Q}$, the word w does not contain any τ shortening word over (H,Y). We denote by $F(\tau) \subset \mathbf{F}(U)$ the subset of τ -shortening-free words.

Recall that the natural homomorphism $\mathbf{F}(U) \to G$ is injective (Proposition 3.5). Hence, we can safely identify the elements of $\mathbf{F}(U)$ with their images in G. The ball $B_U(n) \subset \mathbf{F}(U)$ of radius n is the set of reduced words over the alphabet $U \sqcup U^{-1}$ of length $|w|_U \leq n$, for every $n \geq 0$. Note that $B_U(n) = (U \sqcup U^{-1} \sqcup \{1\})^n$ when $n \geq 1$. Recall that we have fixed global hypothesis at the beginning of this section. The goal of this subsection is to obtain the following estimation.



PROPOSITION 5.9. — For every $\theta \in (0, 1/2)$, there exist $\tau_1 \ge \tau_0$ depending on θ , δ_0 , L_0 and Δ_0 with the following property. If $|U| \ge 2$ and $\tau \ge \tau_1$, then for every $n \ge 0$, we have

$$|F(\tau) \cap B_U(n+1)| \ge (1-\theta)(2|U|-1)|F(\tau) \cap B_U(n)|.$$

In particular, for every $n \ge 0$

$$|F(\tau) \cap B_U(n)| \ge (1-\theta)^n (2|U|-1)^n.$$

We are going to divide the proof of Proposition 5.9 into a few lemmas. First we fix some notations. We let

$$Z = \{ w \in \mathbf{F}(U) : w \equiv w_0 u, w_0 \in F(\tau), u \in U \sqcup U^{-1} \}.$$

For every $(H, Y) \in \mathcal{Q}$, we denote by $Z_{(H,Y)} \subset Z$ the set of elements $w \in Z$ that split as $w \equiv w_1 w_2$, where $w_1 \in F(\tau)$ and w_2 is a τ -shortening word over (H, Y).

LEMMA 5.10. — The set Z is contained in the disjoint union of $F(\tau)$ and $\bigcup_{(H,Y)\in\mathscr{Q}} Z_{(H,Y)}$.

Proof. — The sets $F(\tau)$ and $\bigcup_{(H,Y)\in\mathscr{Q}} Z_{(H,Y)}$ are disjoint as a direct consequence of the definitions. Let $w \in Z - F(\tau)$. Since $w \in Z$, there exist $w_0 \in F(\tau)$ and $u \in U \sqcup U^{-1}$ such that $w \equiv w_0 u$. Since $w \notin F(\tau)$, there exist $(H,Y) \in \mathscr{Q}$ and a subword w_2 of w that is a τ -shortening word over (H,Y). It follows from the definition of $F(\tau)$ that every subword of w_0 must also be in $F(\tau)$. In particular, the word w_2 cannot be a subword of w_0 . Hence, the only possibility is that w_2 is a suffix of w. Therefore, $w \in Z_{(H,Y)}$.

Our Lemma 5.10 implies that for every $n \ge 0$,

(5.4)
$$|F(\tau) \cap B_U(n)| \ge |Z \cap B_U(n)| - \sum_{(H,Y) \in \mathscr{Q}} |Z_{(H,Y)} \cap B_U(n)|.$$

The next step is to estimate each term in the right side of the above inequality. The following lemma is a direct consequence of the definition of Z.

LEMMA 5.11. — For every $n \ge 0$,

$$|Z \cap B_U(n+1)| = (2|U|-1)|F(\tau) \cap B_U(n)|$$

Lемма 5.12. — Let

$$a = 2, \quad b = \left\lceil \frac{\tau_0}{200\delta_0} + 2 \right\rceil + 1, \quad M = \left\lfloor \frac{\tau - 50\delta_0}{L_0} \right\rfloor.$$

If $|U| \ge 2$, then for every $n \ge 0$,

$$\sum_{(H,Y)\in\mathscr{Q}} |Z_{(H,Y)} \cap B_U(n)| \leq a(2|U|-1)^b |F(\tau) \cap B_U(n-M)|.$$

Proof. — Assume that $|U| \ge 2$. Let $n \ge 0$. Note that for every $(H, Y) \in \mathcal{Q}$, the set $Z_{(H,Y)}$ is empty whenever there is no τ -shortening word over (H,Y). We denote by \mathcal{Q}_0 the set of $(H,Y) \in \mathcal{Q}$ for which there exist a τ -shortening word over (H,Y). We have,

$$\sum_{H \in \mathscr{Q}} |Z_{(H,Y)} \cap B_U(n)| = \sum_{(H,Y) \in \mathscr{Q}_0} |Z_{(H,Y)} \cap B_U(n)|.$$

The desired estimation is obtained from the two estimations of the claims below:

Claim 5.13. — $|Z_{(H,Y)} \cap B_U(n)| \leq a|F(\tau) \cap B_U(n-M)|$, for every $(H,Y) \in \mathscr{Q}_0$.

Proof. — Let $(H, Y) \in \mathcal{Q}_0$. Let $w \in Z_{(H,Y)} \cap B_U(n)$. Since $w \in Z_{(H,Y)}$, there exist $w_1 \in F(\tau)$ and a τ -shortening word w_2 over (H, Y) such that $w \equiv w_1 w_2$. We are going to describe the possible choices of w_1 and w_2 . Since w is a reduced word over $U \sqcup U^{-1}$,

$$|w_1|_U = |w|_U - |w_2|_U.$$

According to Proposition 5.4 (i),

$$|w_2|_U \geqslant \frac{\tau - 50\delta_0}{L_0} \geqslant M \geqslant 0.$$

Therefore, $w_1 \in F(\tau) \cap B_U(n-M)$. Since $w \in Z$, the prefix consisting of all but the last letter is a τ -shortening free word. Thus, no proper prefix of w_2 is a τ -shortening word. It follows from Proposition 5.6 that there are most a = 2 possible choices for w_2 . Therefore, there are at most $a|F(\tau) \cap B_U(n-M)|$ choices for w. This proves our claim. \Box

Claim 5.14. — $|\mathscr{Q}_0| \leqslant (2|U|-1)^b$

Proof. — Let $d = \left\lceil \frac{\tau_0}{200\delta_0} + 2 \right\rceil$. Since the free group $\mathbf{F}(U)$ has rank $|U| \ge 2$, we have

$$|B_U(d)| = \frac{|U|(2|U|-1)^d - 1}{|U| - 1} \leq (2|U|-1)^{d+1} = (2|U|-1)^b.$$

Consequently, it suffices to show that there exists an injective map $\chi: \mathscr{Q}_0 \to B_U(d)$. Let $(H,Y) \in \mathscr{Q}_0$. By definition, there exist a τ -shortening word w over (H,Y). Note that since $\tau \geq \tau_0$, we have that w is a τ_0 -shortening word over (H,Y). Let w' be the shortest prefix of w that is a τ_0 -shortening word over (H,Y). In particular, w' is a minimal τ_0 -shortening word over (H,Y). We define $\chi(H,Y) = w'$. Since $\alpha \geq 200\delta_0$, according to Proposition 5.4 (ii), $|w'|_U \leq d$. According to Proposition 5.5, there exist at most one $(H,Y) \in \mathscr{Q}$ such that w' is a τ_0 -shortening word over (H,Y). Hence χ is well-defined and injective. This proves our claim.

LEMMA 5.15. — For every $\theta \in (0, 1/2)$ and $a, b \ge 1$, there exist $M_0 \ge 0$ with the following

property. Let

$$\mu = (1 - \theta)(2|U| - 1), \quad \xi = a(2|U| - 1)^b, \text{ and } \sigma = \frac{\theta}{2(1 - \theta)\xi}.$$

If $|U| \ge 2$, then for every $M \ge M_0$, we have

$$\frac{1}{\mu^M} \leqslant \sigma.$$

Proof. — Let $\theta \in (0, 1/2)$ and $a, b \ge 1$. Let $M_0 = \max\left\{b, \frac{d_1}{d_2}\right\}$, where d_1, d_2 are constants depending only on θ , a, b whose exact value will be precised below. Let μ , ξ , σ as above. Assume that $|U| \ge 2$. Let $M \ge M_0$. In order to prove that $\frac{1}{\mu^M} \le \sigma$, it is enough to show that $\log\left(\frac{1}{\sigma\mu^M}\right) \le 0$. A first computation yields

$$\log\left(\frac{1}{\sigma\mu^{M}}\right) = -\log\sigma - \log\left(\mu^{M}\right),$$
$$\log(\sigma) = \log\left(\frac{\theta}{2(1-\theta)a}\right) - b\log(2|U|-1),$$
$$\log\left(\mu^{M}\right) = M\log(1-\theta) + M\log(2|U|-1).$$

Consequently,

$$\log\left(\frac{1}{\sigma\mu^M}\right) \leqslant (b-M)\log(2|U|-1) - M\log(1-\theta) - \log\left(\frac{\theta}{2(1-\theta)a}\right).$$

Since $M \ge b$ and $|U| \ge 2$, we have

$$(b-M)\log(2|U|-1) \leqslant (b-M)\log 3.$$

Therefore,

$$\log\left(\frac{1}{\sigma\mu^M}\right) \leqslant -M[\log 3 + \log(1-\theta)] + b\log 3 - \log\left(\frac{\theta}{2(1-\theta)a}\right).$$

We put

$$d_1 = b \log 3 + \log(2a) - \log\left(\frac{\theta}{1-\theta}\right), \quad d_2 = \log 3 + \log(1-\theta).$$

Since $a \ge 1$, $b \ge 1$ and $\theta \in (0, 1/2)$, we have $\min\{d_1, d_2\} > 0$. Finally, since $M \ge \frac{d_1}{d_2}$, we obtain, $\log\left(\frac{1}{\sigma\mu^M}\right) \le 0$.

We are ready to prove the proposition.

Proof of Proposition 5.9. — Let $\theta \in (0, 1/2)$. We are going to define the constant τ_1 . Let

$$a = 2, \quad b = \left\lceil \frac{\tau_0}{200\delta_0} + 2 \right\rceil + 1.$$



Let $M_0 \ge 0$ be the constant of Lemma 5.15 depending on θ , a, b. We put

$$\tau_1 = \max\{\tau_0, L_0(M_0 + 1) + 50\delta_0\}.$$

Assume that $|U| \ge 2$ and $\tau \ge \tau_1$. We define the auxiliary parameters

$$\mu = (1 - \theta)(2|U| - 1), \quad \xi = a(2|U| - 1)^b, \quad \sigma = \frac{\theta}{2\xi(1 - \theta)}, \text{ and } M = \left\lfloor \frac{\tau - 50\delta_0}{L_0} \right\rfloor.$$

In particular, $M \ge M_0$. For every $n \ge 0$, we let

$$c(n) = |F(\tau) \cap B_U(n)|.$$

We must prove that for every $n \ge 1$,

$$c(n) \ge \mu c(n-1).$$

The proof goes by induction on n:

<u>Base step</u>. We claim that $c(1) \ge \mu$. Note that $B_U(1) = U \sqcup U^{-1} \sqcup \{1\}$. Therefore, it is enough to show that $U \sqcup U^{-1} \sqcup \{1\}$ is contained in $F(\tau)$. Let $w \in U \sqcup U^{-1} \sqcup \{1\}$. In particular, $|w|_U = 1$. Therefore, $w \in F(\tau)$ if and only if for every $(H, Y) \in \mathcal{Q}$, the element w is not a τ -shortening word over (H, Y). According to Proposition 5.4 (i), for every $(H, Y) \in \mathcal{Q}$ and for every τ -shortening word v over (H, Y), we have $|v|_U \ge \frac{\tau - 50\delta_0}{L_0}$. Since $\tau \ge \tau_0$, we have $1 < \frac{\tau - 50\delta_0}{L_0}$. Consequently, $w \in F(\tau)$. This proves our claim.

Inductive step. Let $n \ge 1$. Assume that $c(m) \ge \mu c(m-1)$, for every $m \in [\![1,n]\!]$. We claim that $c(n+1) \ge \mu c(n)$. According to Equation 5.4,

$$c(n+1) \ge |Z \cap B_U(n+1)| - \sum_{(H,Y) \in \mathscr{Q}} |Z_{(H,Y)} \cap B_U(n+1)|.$$

It follows from Lemma 5.11 and Lemma 5.12 that

$$c(n+1) \ge (2|U| - 1)c(n) - \xi c(n+1 - M).$$

The induction hypothesis implies that for every $k \ge 0$, we have $c(n-k) \le \mu^{-k}c(n)$. Note that $M-1 \ge 0$. Therefore, specifying the choice k = M-1, we obtain

$$c(n+1) \ge \left(1 - \frac{\xi\mu}{2|U| - 1} \frac{1}{\mu^M}\right)(2|U| - 1)c(n).$$

Recall that we defined $\mu = (1 - \theta)(2|U| - 1)$. Hence, in order to prove our claim, it is enough to show that

$$\frac{\xi\mu}{2|U|-1}\frac{1}{\mu^M} \leqslant \theta.$$



Since $M \ge M_0$, it follows from Lemma 5.15 that

$$\frac{1}{\mu^M} \leqslant \sigma.$$

Finally, note that

$$\frac{\xi\mu}{2|U|-1}\sigma=\frac{\xi(1-\theta)(2|U|-1)}{2|U|-1}\frac{\theta}{2\xi(1-\theta)}=\frac{\theta}{2}\leqslant\theta.$$

This proves our claim.

5.3. The injection of shortening-free words

Let ρ_0 be the constant of the Small Cancellation Theorem (Lemma 2.27). Let $\tau_1 \ge \tau_0$ be the constant of Proposition 5.9 depending on $\theta = 1/3$, δ_0 , L_0 and Δ_0 . Let

$$\rho \ge \max\{\rho_0, \log(2[4\tau_1 + 23\delta_0] + 1)\}.$$

In addition to the global hypothesis for this section, we assume that

$$T(\mathcal{Q}, X) \ge 100\pi \sinh \rho.$$

Denote $K = \langle \! \langle H \mid (H, Y) \in \mathcal{Q} \rangle \! \rangle$ and $\overline{G} = G/K$. The goal of this subsection is to prove:

PROPOSITION 5.16. — There exists $\tau_2 \ge \tau_1$ depending on δ_0 , L_0 and Δ_0 with the following property. The restriction of the natural homomorphism $\mathbf{F}(U) \to \overline{G}$ to the subset of τ_2 -shortening-free words is an injection.

LEMMA 5.17. — Let $w \equiv u_1 \cdots u_n$ be an element of $\mathbf{F}(U)$. Let $(H, Y) \in \mathcal{Q}$. Let y_0 and y_n be respective projections of p and wp on Y. If $|y_0 - y_n| > 2\tau$, then w contains a $(2\tau - \tau_0)$ -shortening word over a conjugate of (H, Y).

Proof. — Consider the sequence of n + 1 points

$$x_0 = p, \quad x_1 = u_1 p, \quad x_2 = u_1 u_2 p, \quad \cdots, \quad x_n = u_1 \cdots u_n p.$$

Let y_i be a projection of x_i on Y, for every $i \in [0, n]$. Assume that $|y_0 - y_n| > 2\tau$. Since Y is 10 δ -quasi-convex (Lemma 2.14) and $\tau \ge 23\delta$, the strong contraction property of Y (Lemma 2.6) implies that there exist $y'_0, y'_n \in [p, wp]$ such that

$$\max\{|y_0 - y_0'|, |y_n - y_n'|\} \le 23\delta \le 23\delta_0.$$

Consider the broken geodesic

$$\gamma_w = \bigcup_{i=1}^n (u_1 \cdots u_{i-1})[p, u_i p].$$

))

Let y_0'' and y_n'' be respective projections of y_0' and y_n' on γ_w . Up to permuting y_0' and y_n' we may assume that p, y_0'', y_n'' and wp are ordered in this way along γ_w . In particular, there are $i \leq n-1$ and $j \leq n-1$ such that $y_0'' \in (u_1 \cdots u_i)[p, u_{i+1}p]$ and $y_n'' \in (u_1 \cdots u_j)[p, u_{j+1}p]$. Since y_0'' comes before y_n'' on γ_w , we have $i \leq j$. Let $w_0 \equiv u_1 \cdots u_{i+1}$ and take the word w_1 such that $w_0w_1 \equiv u_1 \cdots u_j$. We are going to prove that w_1 is a $(2\tau - \tau_0)$ -shortening word over $(w_0^{-1}Hw_0, w_0^{-1}Y)$. The property (S2) follows from the fact that U is $200\delta_0$ reduced at p and from the Broken Geodesic Lemma (Lemma 3.3). Let's prove (S1), i.e. $|y_{i+1} - y_j| > 2\tau - \tau_0$. By the triangle inequality,

$$\begin{aligned} |y_{i+1} - y_j| &\ge |y_0 - y_n| - |y_0 - y_{i+1}| - |y_n - y_j|, \\ |y_0 - y_{i+1}| &\le |y_0 - y_0'| + |y_0' - y_0''| + |y_0'' - x_{i+1}| + |x_{i+1} - y_{i+1}|, \\ |y_n - y_j| &\le |y_n - y_n'| + |y_n' - y_n''| + |y_n'' - x_j| + |x_j - y_j|. \end{aligned}$$

Since $[x_0, x_n]$ is contained in the 5 δ -neighbouhood of γ_w (Lemma 3.3 (iii)),

$$\max\{|y'_0 - y''_0|, |y'_n - y''_n|\} \leqslant 5\delta \leqslant 5\delta_0.$$

Since $y_0'' \in (u_1 \cdots u_i)[p, u_{i+1}p]$ and $y_n'' \in (u_1 \cdots u_j)[p, u_{j+1}p]$,

$$\max\{|y_0'' - x_{i+1}|, |y_n'' - x_j|\} \le \mathcal{L}(U, p) \le L_0.$$

It follows from (S2) that,

$$\max\{|x_{i+1} - y_{i+1}|, |x_j - y_j|\} \leq \mathcal{L}(U, p) \leq \mathcal{L}_0.$$

Combining the previous estimations, we obtain $|y_{i+1}-y_j| > 2\tau - \tau_0$. Note that $2\tau - \tau_0 \ge \tau_0$. \Box

Proof of Proposition 5.16. — We put $\tau_2 = 2\tau_1 - \tau_0$. Let $w_1, w_2 \in \mathbf{F}(U)$ be two τ_2 shortening-free words such that $w_1w_2 \in K$. Assume for a contradiction that w_1w_2 is not the identity as an element of G. According to Greendlinger's Lemma (Lemma 2.33), there exist $(H, Y) \in \mathcal{Q}$ such that if y_0 and y_2 are respective projections of p and w_1w_2p on Y, then

$$|y_0 - y_2| > T(H, X) - 2\pi \sinh \rho - 23\delta.$$

By definition, $T(H, X) \ge T(\mathcal{Q}, X)$. By hypothesis

$$T(\mathcal{Q}, X) \ge 100\pi \sinh \rho$$
, and $\delta \le \delta_0$.

Therefore,

$$|y_0 - y_2| > \frac{e^{\rho} - 1}{2} - 23\delta_0.$$



The choice of ρ now implies that

$$|y_0 - y_2| > 4\tau_1$$

Let y_1 be a projection of w_1p on Y. Note that $w_1^{-1}y_1$ and $w_1^{-1}y_2$ are respective projections of p and w_2p on $w_1^{-1}Y$. Also, $(w_1^{-1}Hw_1, w_1^{-1}Y) \in \mathscr{Q}$. Since w_1 and w_2 are τ_2 -shorteningfree words, it follows from Lemma 5.17 that

$$\max\left\{|y_0 - y_1|, |y_1 - y_2|\right\} < 2\tau_1.$$

By the triangle inequality,

$$|y_0 - y_2| \leq |y_0 - y_1| + |y_1 - y_2| \leq 4\tau_1.$$

Contradiction. Hence $w_1w_2 = 1$.

6. Growth in small cancellation groups

The goal of this section is to prove Theorem 1.2. We start with the following lemma.

LEMMA 6.1. — Let $a \ge 0$, $b \ge a$. Let G be a group acting acylindrically on a δ -hyperbolic space X. Let $U \subset G$ be a finite symmetric subset containing the identity such that $L(U) \le b$. Let $\Gamma = \langle U \rangle$. One of the following holds.

(i) Γ is elliptic.

(ii) There exist $n \ge 1$ depending on U such that

$$a < \mathcal{L}(U^n) \leq 2b.$$

Proof. — Assume that Γ is not elliptic. Since the action of G on X is acylindrical, there exists a loxodromic element $g \in \Gamma$ (Lemma 2.22).

CLAIM 6.2. — There exists $M_0 \ge 1$ depending on U such that for every $M \ge M_0$,

$$\mathcal{L}(U^M) > a.$$

Proof. — According to Lemma 2.13, the global injectivity radius T(G, X) is distinct from zero. Let $m \ge \frac{a+\delta}{T(G,X)}$. Since $g \in \Gamma$ and U is a symmetric generating set, there exists $M_0 \ge 1$ depending on U such that $g^m \in U^{M_0}$. Let $M \ge M_0$. Let $p \in X$ almost-minimizing the ℓ^{∞} -energy $L(U^{M_0})$. We have,

$$\mathcal{L}(U^M, p) \ge \mathcal{L}(U^{M_0}, p) \ge |g^m p - p| \ge ||g^m||^{\infty} = m||g||^{\infty} > a + \delta.$$

Hence $L(U^M) > a$. This proves our claim.

It follows from the claim above that there exist a smallest number $n \ge 1$ depending on U such that $L(U^n) > a$. If n = 1, then we have $L(U) \le b$ by hypothesis. Therefore, $L(U) \le 2b$. If $n \ge 2$, then $n \le 2(n-1)$. Since U contains the identity, $U^n \subset U^{2(n-1)}$. By the triangle inequality,

$$\mathcal{L}(U^n) \leqslant \mathcal{L}(U^{2(n-1)}) \leqslant 2 \mathcal{L}(U^{n-1}) \leqslant 2a \leqslant 2b.$$

Hypothesis for the remainder of this section. Recall that the constants of the Small Cancellation Theorem (Lemma 2.27) are δ_0 , $\bar{\delta}$, Δ_0 , ρ_0 . We can choose δ_0 arbitrarily small (Remark 2.28). For convenience, we will assume

$$\delta_0 \leqslant \frac{\pi \sinh 10^4 \bar{\delta}}{10^4 \cdot 200}.$$

We define the first geometric small cancellation parameter:

$$\lambda \leqslant \frac{\Delta_0}{100\pi \sinh \rho_0}.$$

Let N > 0. Let c > 1 be the constant of Theorem 4.8 depending only on the acylindricity parameters (δ_0, N) . We fix an auxiliar parameter that will be used to bound the ℓ^{∞} energy:

$$L_0 = c \cdot (2\pi \sinh 10^4 \bar{\delta} + \delta_0).$$

Let τ_1 and τ_2 be the constants of Proposition 5.16 depending on δ_0 , L_0 and Δ_0 . Let

$$\rho \ge \max\left\{\rho_0, \log(2[4\tau_1 + 23\delta_0] + 1), 5 \cdot 10^4 \bar{\delta}\right\}.$$

Let $\delta > 0$ and $\kappa \ge \delta$. We define the second geometric small cancellation parameter:

$$\varepsilon \geqslant \frac{100\pi\sinh\rho}{\delta_0} \cdot \frac{\kappa}{\delta}.$$

Let G be a group acting (κ, N) -acylindrically on a δ -hyperbolic space X. Let \mathscr{Q} be a loxodromic moving family satisfying the geometric $C''(\lambda, \varepsilon)$ -small cancellation condition for the action of G on X. We define a rescaling parameter

$$\sigma = \min\left\{\frac{\delta_0}{\kappa}, \frac{\Delta_0}{\Delta(\mathscr{Q}, X)}\right\}.$$

Remark 6.3. — Instead of working with the action of G on X, we will work with the action of G on the rescaled space \mathcal{X} .

The space \mathcal{X} is $\sigma\delta$ -hyperbolic and the action of G on \mathcal{X} is $(\sigma\kappa, N)$ -acylindrical. Note that

$$\sigma\delta\leqslant\sigma\kappa\leqslant\delta_0,$$

where the first inequality comes from the hypothesis $\kappa \ge \delta$. In particular, the action of G on \mathcal{X} is (δ_0, N) -acylindrical for the hyperbolicity constant $\sigma\delta$. Besides, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \Delta(\mathscr{Q}, \mathcal{X}) &\leqslant \sigma \Delta(\mathscr{Q}, X) \leqslant \Delta_0, \\ \mathrm{T}(\mathscr{Q}, \mathcal{X}) &\geqslant \sigma \operatorname{T}(\mathscr{Q}, X) \geqslant \sigma \max\left\{\varepsilon \delta, \frac{\Delta(\mathscr{Q}, X)}{\lambda}\right\} \geqslant 100\pi \sinh \rho. \end{aligned}$$

Note that the second equation is deduced after using the geometric $C''(\lambda, \varepsilon)$ -small cancellation condition. Therefore G, \mathcal{X} and \mathcal{Q} satisfy the hypothesis of the Small Cancellation Theorem (Lemma 2.27). We denote $K = \langle \langle H | (H, Y) \in \mathcal{Q} \rangle \rangle$ and $\overline{G} = G/K$. We denote by \overline{A} the image of any set $A \subset G$ under the natural projection $\pi: G \twoheadrightarrow \overline{G}$.

The following lemma is the core of the proof of our main theorem. It brings together Theorem 4.8, Proposition 5.9 and Proposition 5.16.

LEMMA 6.4. — There exist $\beta \in (0, 1)$ depending only on N with the following property. Let $U \subset G$ be a finite symmetric subset containing the identity such that $L(U) \leq \pi \sinh 10^4 \overline{\delta}$. Let $\Gamma = \langle U \rangle$. If Γ is non-elementary for the action on \mathcal{X} , then

$$\omega(\bar{U}) \geqslant \beta \omega(U)$$

Proof. — We put

$$\beta = \sup_{\theta \in (0,1)} \inf \left\{ \theta \cdot \frac{\log \frac{3}{2}}{\log (2c)}, 1 - \theta \right\} \cdot \frac{1}{c}.$$

Let $U \subset G$ be a finite symmetric subset containing the identity such that $L(U) \leq \pi \sinh 10^4 \overline{\delta}$. Let $\Gamma = \langle U \rangle$ and assume that Γ is non-elementary for the action on \mathcal{X} . We are going to choose a power of U and apply Theorem 4.8 to that power for the (δ_0, N) -acylindrical action of G on the $\sigma\delta$ -hyperbolic space \mathcal{X} . By assumption, we have

$$10^4 \cdot 200\delta_0 \leqslant \pi \sinh 10^4 \bar{\delta}.$$

Since Γ is non-elementary, it follows from Lemma 6.1 that there exists $n \ge 1$ depending on U such that

(6.1)
$$10^4 \cdot 200\delta_0 < \mathcal{L}(U^n) \leqslant 2\pi \sinh 10^4 \bar{\delta}.$$

Let $\Gamma' = \langle U^n \rangle$. Since U is symmetric and contains the identity, $U \subset U^n$. Therefore $\Gamma = \Gamma'$. The fact that Γ is non-elementary now implies that Γ' is non-elementary. Let $p \in \mathcal{X}$ be a point almost-minimizing the ℓ^{∞} -energy $L(U^n)$. It follows from Theorem 4.8 that there exist a subset $S \subset G$ such that

- (i) $S \subset U^{cn}$,
- (ii) $|S| \ge \frac{1}{c}|U^n|$,
- (iii) S is $200\delta_0$ -reduced at p.

We are going to estimate $\omega(\overline{U})$. Let $r \ge 1$. Since U is symmetric and contains the identity, (i) implies

$$B_S(r) \subset U^{cnr}.$$

Let $F(\tau_2)$ be the set of τ_2 -shortening-free words associated to U and \mathcal{Q} . We have

$$|\bar{U}^{cnr}| \ge |\bar{B}_S(r)| \ge |\bar{F}(\tau_0) \cap \bar{B}_S(r)|.$$

Further,

$$L(S,p) \leq L(U^{cn},p) \leq c L(U^n,p) \leq L_0,$$

where the first inequality is (i) and the second one is the triangle inequality. The third one is due to the upper bound of Equation 6.1, together with the fact that the point p is almost-minimizing the ℓ^{∞} -energy L(U). Hence we can apply Proposition 5.9 and Proposition 5.16 to obtain, respectively

$$|\bar{F}(\tau_2) \cap \bar{B}_S(r)| = |F(\tau_2) \cap B_S(r)|, \text{ and } |F(\tau_2) \cap B_S(r)| \ge \left[\frac{1}{2}(2|S|-1)\right]^r$$

Applying Fekete's Subadditive Lemma,

$$|U^n| \geqslant e^{n\omega(U)}.$$

Together with (ii), this implies

$$2|S| - 1 \ge |S| \ge \frac{1}{c}e^{n\omega(U)}.$$

Combining our estimations, we deduce

(6.2)
$$|\bar{U}^{cnr}| \ge \max\left\{\left[\frac{1}{2}(2|S|-1)\right]^r, \left[\frac{1}{2c}e^{n\omega(U)}\right]^r\right\}.$$

We have,

$$\omega(\bar{U}) = \limsup_{r \to \infty} \frac{1}{cnr} \log |\bar{U}^{cnr}|.$$

Let $\theta \in (0, 1)$. Consider the positive number

$$\gamma = \frac{\log 2c}{\theta\omega(U)}.$$

▶ If $n \leq \gamma$, we use the first bound of Equation 6.2 to obtain

$$\omega(\bar{U}) \ge \frac{1}{cn} \cdot \log\left[\frac{1}{2}(2|S|-1)\right].$$



Since $n \leq \gamma$, we have $\frac{1}{n} \geq \frac{1}{\gamma}$. Further, $|S| \geq 2$. Consequently,

$$\omega(\bar{U}) \ge \theta \cdot \frac{\log \frac{3}{2}}{\log 2c} \cdot \frac{1}{c} \cdot \omega(U).$$

▶ If $n \ge \gamma$, we use the second bound of Equation 6.2 to obtain

$$\omega(\bar{U}) \ge \frac{1}{c} \left(\omega(U) - \frac{1}{n} \log 2c \right).$$

Since $n \ge \gamma$, we have $\frac{1}{n} \le \frac{1}{\gamma}$. Consequently,

$$\frac{1}{n}\log 2c\leqslant \theta\omega(U).$$

Therefore,

$$\omega(\bar{U}) \ge (1-\theta) \cdot \frac{1}{c} \cdot \omega(U).$$

Finally, combining the cases $n \leq \gamma$ and $n \geq \gamma$, we obtain:

$$\omega(U) \geqslant \beta \omega(U).$$

THEOREM 6.5 (Theorem 1.2 (i)). — Let $\xi > 0$. If G has ξ -uniform uniform exponential growth, then every geometric $C''(\lambda, \varepsilon)$ -small cancellation quotient of G has ξ' -uniform uniform exponential growth. The constant ξ' depends only on ξ and N.

Proof. — Let $\xi > 0$. Assume that G has ξ -uniform uniform exponential growth. Let $\overline{U} \subset \overline{G}$ be a finite symmetric subset containing the identity and denote $\overline{\Gamma} = \langle \overline{U} \rangle$. Recall that \mathscr{V} stands by the set of apices of the cone-off space $\dot{\mathcal{X}}_{\rho}(\mathscr{Q}, X)$. There are two cases:

Case 1. There exist $\bar{v} \in \bar{\mathcal{V}}$ such that \bar{U} is contained in $\operatorname{Stab}(\bar{v})$.

Let $v \in \mathscr{V}$ be a preimage of \bar{v} . Let $(H, Y) \in \mathscr{Q}$ such that v is the apex of the cone Z(Y). The natural projection $\pi \colon G \twoheadrightarrow \bar{G}$ induces an isomorphism $\operatorname{Stab}(Y)/H \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Stab}(\bar{v})$ (Lemma 2.27 (iii)). Since the moving family \mathscr{Q} is loxodromic, H has finite index in $\operatorname{Stab}(Y)$. Hence $\bar{\Gamma}$ is finite, in particular virtually nilpotent.

Case 2. The set \overline{U} is not contained in $\operatorname{Stab}(\overline{v})$, for every $\overline{v} \in \mathscr{V}$.

The quotient space $\bar{\mathcal{X}}_{\rho}$ is $\bar{\delta}$ -hyperbolic (Lemma 2.27 (i)) and the action of $\bar{\Gamma}$ on $\bar{\mathcal{X}}_{\rho}$ is acylindrical (Lemma 2.35). Then $\bar{\Gamma}$ falls exactly in one of the following three situations (Lemma 2.22):

(a) Γ is elliptic, or equivalently one (hence any) orbit of Γ is bounded. Since the set \overline{U} is not contained in $\operatorname{Stab}(\overline{v})$, for every $\overline{v} \in \overline{\mathscr{V}}$, there exists an elliptic subgroup $E \subset G$ for the action of G on \mathscr{X} such that the natural projection $\pi: G \twoheadrightarrow \overline{G}$ induces an isomorphism $E \xrightarrow{\sim} \overline{\Gamma}$ (Lemma 2.31). Since G has ξ -uniform uniform exponential growth, the subgroup E is either virtually nilpotent or has ξ -uniform exponential growth. In combination with the isomorphism $F \xrightarrow{\sim} \overline{\Gamma}$, we deduce that $\overline{\Gamma}$ either is virtually nilpotent or has ξ -uniform exponential growth.

(b) $\overline{\Gamma}$ is loxodromic, or equivalently $\overline{\Gamma}$ is virtually cyclic and contains a loxodromic element. Then $\overline{\Gamma}$ is virtually nilpotent.

(c) $\overline{\Gamma}$ is non-elementary, or equivalently $\overline{\Gamma}$ contains a free group \mathbf{F}_2 of rank 2 and one (hence any) orbit of \mathbf{F}_2 is unbounded. There are two subcases:

(E1) Large energy: $L(\bar{U}) > 10^4 \bar{\delta}$.

Then $\omega(\bar{U}) \ge \frac{1}{10^3} \log 2$ (Lemma 2.22 and Lemma 2.23). Note that here we do not require any control over the parameters of the acylindrical action of $\bar{\Gamma}$ on $\bar{\chi}_{\rho}$.

(E2) Small energy: $L(\bar{U}) \leq 10^4 \bar{\delta}$.

Since \overline{U} is not contained in $\operatorname{Stab}(\overline{v})$, for every $\overline{v} \in \overline{\mathscr{V}}$, and $10^4 \overline{\delta} \leq \rho/5$, there exists a pre-image $U \subset G$ of \overline{U} of energy $\operatorname{L}(U) \leq \pi \sinh 10^4 \overline{\delta}$ (Lemma 2.32). Without loss of generality, we may assume that U is symmetric and contains the identity. Since $\overline{\Gamma}$ is non-elementary for the action on $\overline{\mathscr{X}}_{\rho}$, the subgroup Γ is non-elementary for the action on \mathcal{X} (Lemma 2.29). According to Lemma 6.4, there exists $\beta \in (0, 1)$ depending on N such that $\omega(\overline{U}) \geq \beta \omega(U)$. Since G has ξ -uniform uniform exponential growth and Γ is non-elementary, we have $\omega(U) \geq \xi$. Therefore, $\omega(\overline{U}) \geq \beta \xi$. This completes the proof of our theorem.

THEOREM 6.6 (Theorem 1.2 (ii)). — Let $\xi > 0$. If there exists a geometric $C''(\lambda, \varepsilon)$ -small cancellation quotient of G that has ξ -uniform uniform exponential growth, then G has ξ' -uniform uniform exponential growth. The constant ξ' depends only on ξ .

Proof. — Let $\xi > 0$. Assume that \overline{G} has ξ -uniform uniform exponential growth. Let $U \subset G$ be a finite symmetric subset containing the identity and denote $\Gamma = \langle U \rangle$. Then Γ falls exactly in one of the following three situations (Lemma 2.22):

(a) Γ is elliptic, or equivalently one (hence any) orbit of Γ is bounded. The projection $\pi: G \twoheadrightarrow \overline{G}$ induces an isomorphism $\Gamma \xrightarrow{\sim} \overline{\Gamma}$ (Lemma 2.30). Since \overline{G} has ξ -uniform uniform exponential growth, the subgroup $\overline{\Gamma}$ is either virtually nilpotent or has ξ -uniform exponential growth. In combination with the isomorphism $\Gamma \xrightarrow{\sim} \overline{\Gamma}$, we deduce that Γ is either virtually nilpotent or has ξ -uniform exponential growth.

(b) Γ is loxodromic, or equivalently Γ is virtually cyclic and contains a loxodromic element. Then Γ is virtually nilpotent.

(c) Γ is non-elementary, or equivalently Γ contains a free group \mathbf{F}_2 of rank 2 and one (hence any) orbit of \mathbf{F}_2 is unbounded. There are two subcases:

(E1) Large energy: $L(U) > 10^4 \delta_0$.

Then $\omega(U) \ge \frac{1}{10^3} \log 2$ (Lemma 2.22 and Lemma 2.23). Note that here we do not require any control over the parameters of the acylindrical action of Γ on \mathcal{X} .

(E2) Small energy: $L(U) \leq 10^4 \delta_0$.

By definition, $\omega(U) \ge \omega(\bar{U})$. Since Γ is non-elementary for its action on \mathcal{X} , we have $\omega(U) > 0$. Since $10^4 \delta_0 \le \pi \sinh 10^4 \bar{\delta}$, it follows from Lemma 6.4 that $\omega(\bar{U}) > 0$. In particular $\bar{\Gamma}$ is not virtually nilpotent. Since \bar{G} has ξ -uniform uniform exponential growth, we deduce that $\omega(\bar{U}) \ge \xi$. Therefore, $\omega(U) \ge \xi$.

7. References

- C. R. Abbott, T. Ng, D. Spriano, R. Gupta, and H. Petyt. Hierarchically hyperbolic groups and uniform exponential growth, 2019. URL: https://arxiv.org/abs/ 1909.00439, doi:10.48550/ARXIV.1909.00439.
- [2] J. W. Anderson, J. Aramayona, and K. J. Shackleton. Uniformly exponential growth and mapping class groups of surfaces. In *In the tradition of Ahlfors-Bers. IV*, volume 432 of *Contemp. Math.*, pages 1–6. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2007. doi:10.1090/conm/432/08294.
- [3] Y. Antolín, A. Martino, and E. Ventura. Degree of commutativity of infinite groups. Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society, 145(2):479-485, 2017. doi:10.1090/proc/13231.
- [4] G. N. Arzhantseva and I. G. Lysenok. A lower bound on the growth of word hyperbolic groups. Journal of the London Mathematical Society. Second Series, 73(1):109–125, 2006. Publisher: John Wiley & Sons, Chichester; London Mathematical Society, London.
- [5] G. N. Arzhantseva and A. Y. Ol'shanskii. Generality of the class of groups in which subgroups with a lesser number of generators are free. *Matematicheskie Zametki*, 59(4):489–496, 638, 1996. doi:10.1007/BF02308683.
- [6] E. A. Bering, IV. Compatible Trees and Outer Automorphisms of a Free Group. ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, 2017. URL: http://gateway.proquest. com/openurl?url_ver=Z39.88-2004&rft_val_fmt=info:ofi/fmt:kev:mtx: dissertation&res_dat=xri:pqm&rft_dat=xri:pqdiss:10708522.
- B. H. Bowditch. Continuously many quasi-isometry classes of \$2\$-generator groups. Commentarii Mathematici Helvetici, 73(2):232-236, 1998. doi:10.1007/ s000140050053.
- [8] B. H. Bowditch. Tight geodesics in the curve complex. Inventiones Mathematicae, 171(2):281-300, 2008. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00222-007-0081-y, doi:10.1007/s00222-007-0081-y.



- [9] E. Breuillard and K. Fujiwara. On the joint spectral radius for isometries of nonpositively curved spaces and uniform growth. Université de Grenoble. Annales de l'Institut Fourier, 71(1):317-391, 2021. URL: http://aif.cedram.org/item?id= AIF_2021_71_1_317_0.
- [10] M. R. Bridson and A. Haefliger. Metric spaces of non-positive curvature, volume 319 of Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1999. doi:10.1007/ 978-3-662-12494-9.
- [11] M. Coornaert. Mesures de Patterson-Sullivan sur le bord d'un espace hyperbolique au sens de Gromov. *Pacific Journal of Mathematics*, 159(2):241-270, 1993. URL: http://projecteuclid.org/euclid.pjm/1102634263.
- [12] M. Coornaert, T. Delzant, and A. Papadopoulos. Géométrie et théorie des groupes, volume 1441 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1990.
- [13] R. Coulon. Growth of periodic quotients of hyperbolic groups. Algebraic & Geometric Topology, 13(6):3111-3133, 2013. doi:10.2140/agt.2013.13.3111.
- [14] R. Coulon. On the geometry of Burnside quotients of torsion free hyperbolic groups. *International Journal of Algebra and Computation*, 24(3):251-345, 2014. URL: http: //dx.doi.org/10.1142/S0218196714500143, doi:10.1142/S0218196714500143.
- [15] R. Coulon. Partial periodic quotients of groups acting on a hyperbolic space. Université de Grenoble. Annales de l'Institut Fourier, 66(5):1773-1857, 2016. URL: http://aif.cedram.org/item?id=AIF_2016__66_5_1773_0.
- [16] R. Coulon. Théorie de la petite simplification: une approche géométrique [d'après F. Dahmani, V. Guirardel, D. Osin et S. Cantat, S. Lamy]. Astérisque, (380, Séminaire Bourbaki. Vol. 2014/2015):Exp. No. 1089, 1–33, 2016. ISBN: 978-2-85629-836-7. doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2016.08.052.
- [17] R. Coulon. Detecting trivial elements of periodic quotient of hyperbolic groups. Bulletin de la Société Mathématique de France, 146(4):745-806, 2018. doi:10. 24033/bsmf.2772.
- [18] R. Coulon and D. Gruber. Small cancellation theory over Burnside groups. Advances in Mathematics, 353:722-775, 2019. doi:10.1016/j.aim.2019.05.029.
- [19] R. Coulon and M. Steenbock. Product set growth in Burnside groups. Journal de l'École polytechnique. Mathématiques, 9:463-504, 2022. doi:10.5802/jep.187.
- [20] F. Dahmani, V. Guirardel, and D. Osin. Hyperbolically embedded subgroups and rotating families in groups acting on hyperbolic spaces. *Memoirs of the American*

Mathematical Society, 245(1156):v+152, 2017. ISBN: 978-1-4704-2194-6; 978-1-4704-3601-8. doi:10.1090/memo/1156.

- [21] P. de la Harpe. Topics in geometric group theory. Chicago Lectures in Mathematics. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, IL, 2000.
- [22] T. Delzant and M. Gromov. Courbure mésoscopique et théorie de la toute petite simplification. Journal of Topology, 1(4):804-836, 2008. URL: http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1112/jtopol/jtn023, doi:10.1112/jtopol/jtn023.
- [23] T. Delzant and M. Steenbock. Product set growth in groups and hyperbolic geometry. J. Topol., 13(3):1183–1215, 2020.
- [24] A. Eskin, S. Mozes, and H. Oh. On uniform exponential growth for linear groups. Inventiones Mathematicae, 160(1):1–30, 2005. doi:10.1007/s00222-004-0378-z.
- [25] K. Fujiwara. The rates of growth in an acylindrically hyperbolic group, 2021. URL: https://arxiv.org/abs/2103.01430, doi:10.48550/ARXIV.2103.01430.
- [26] E. Ghys and P. de la Harpe, editors. Sur les groupes hyperboliques d'après Mikhael Gromov, volume 83 of Progress in Mathematics. Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 1990. doi:10.1007/978-1-4684-9167-8.
- [27] M. Gromov. Groups of polynomial growth and expanding maps. Institut des Hautes Études Scientifiques. Publications Mathématiques, (53):53-73, 1981. URL: http://www.numdam.org/item?id=PMIHES_1981_53_53_0.
- [28] M. Gromov. Hyperbolic groups. In Essays in group theory, volume 8 of Math. Sci. Res. Inst. Publ., pages 75–263. Springer, New York, 1987. doi:10.1007/ 978-1-4613-9586-7_3.
- [29] M. Gromov. CAT(kappa)-spaces: construction and concentration. Rossiu iskaya Akademiya Nauk. Sankt-Peterburgskoe Otdelenie. Matematicheskiu i Institut im. V. A. Steklova. Zapiski Nauchnykh Seminarov (POMI), 280(Geom. i Topol. 7):100–140, 299–300, 2001. doi:10.1023/B:J0TH.0000008756.15786.0f.
- [30] V. Guirardel. Geometric small cancellation. In *Geometric group theory*, volume 21 of *IAS/Park City Math. Ser.*, pages 55–90. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2014. doi:10.1090/pcms/021/03.
- [31] M. Koubi. Croissance uniforme dans les groupes hyperboliques. Université de Grenoble. Annales de l'Institut Fourier, 48(5):1441-1453, 1998. URL: http://www. numdam.org/item?id=AIF_1998_48_5_1441_0.
- [32] J. Mangahas. Uniform uniform exponential growth of subgroups of the mapping class group. *Geometric and Functional Analysis*, 19(5):1468–1480, 2010. doi: 10.1007/s00039-009-0038-y.



- [33] A. Minasyan and D. Osin. Acylindrically hyperbolic groups with exotic properties. Journal of Algebra, 522:218-235, 2019. doi:10.1016/j.jalgebra.2018.12.011.
- [34] D. V. Osin. Acylindrically hyperbolic groups. Transactions of the American Mathematical Society, 368(2):851–888, 2016. doi:10.1090/tran/6343.
- [35] Z. Sela. Acylindrical accessibility for groups. Inventiones Mathematicae, 129(3):527–565, 1997. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/s002220050172.
- [36] C. T. C. Wall. Poincaré complexes. I. Annals of Mathematics. Second Series, 86:213-245, 1967. doi:10.2307/1970688.
- [37] W. Yang. Statistically convex-cocompact actions of groups with contracting elements. International Mathematics Research Notices. IMRN, (23):7259-7323, 2019. doi: 10.1093/imrn/rny001.

Xabier Legaspi ICMAT, CSIC. 28049 Madrid, Spain. IRMAR, Université de Rennes 1. 35000 Rennes, France. xabier.legaspi@icmat.es https://xabierlegaspi.pages.math.cnrs.fr/

Markus Steenbock

Fakultät für Mathematik, Universität Wien. 1090 Wien, Austria. markus.steenbock@univie.ac.at

https://sites.google.com/view/msteenbock/

